
(Revised) 

1 

 
 

AGENDA 
MIDDLESEX-LONDON BOARD OF HEALTH 

 
Thursday, September 19, 2019, 7:00  p.m. 
399 Ridout Street North, London, Ontario 

 Side Entrance, (recessed door) 
MLHU Boardroom 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

DISCLOSURE OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST  
 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA  
 

MINUTES 
 
Approve:  July 18, 2019 - Board of Health meeting 

   

 

Receive: September 5, 2019 - Finance & Facilities Committee draft meeting minutes  

  June 20, 2019 – Governance Committee meeting minutes 

 
 

MISSION - MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT 

 

The mission of the Middlesex-London Health Unit is to promote and protect the health of our 

community. 

 

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF HEALTH 
 

Ms. Trish Fulton (Chair) 

Ms. Maureen Cassidy (Vice-Chair) 

Mr. John Brennan 

Mr. Michael Clarke  

Ms. Aina DeViet 

Ms. Kelly Elliott 

Ms. Tino Kasi   

Mr. Ian Peer  

Ms. Elizabeth Peloza  

Mr. Matt Reid        

 

SECRETARY-TREASURER  
 

Dr. Christopher Mackie   



(Revised) 

2 

Ite
m

 #
 

D
e

le
g

a
tio

n
 

R
e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

tio
n

 

In
fo

rm
a

tio
n

 

 
Report Name and Number 

 
 

 

 
Link to 

Additional 
Information 

 
 

Overview and Lead 
 
 

Reports and Agenda Items 

1 x x x 

September 5, 2019  Finance & 

Facilities Committee Meeting 

Update 

 

(Report No. 051-19) 

September 5, 2019 

– Agenda 

 

Minutes 

 

To provide an update on reports 

reviewed at the September 5, 2019 

Finance & Facilities Committee 

meeting. 

 

Lead: Mr. Matt Reid, Chair, Finance & 

Facilities Committee  

2 x x x 
September 19, 2019 Governance 

Committee Meeting Update 

(Verbal) 

September 19, 2019 

– Agenda  

To provide an update on reports 

reviewed at the September 19, 2019 

Governance Committee meeting. 

 

Lead: Ms. Aina De Viet, Chair, 

Governance Committee 

3   x 

Public Health Inspector Program 

Review 

 

(Report No. 052-19) 

Appendix A  

To provide an update on a program 

review that was conducted to identify 

efficiencies and effectiveness of service 

delivery within public health inspection 

programs 

 

Lead: Mr. Stephen Turner, Director, 

Environmental Health and Infectious 

Diseases 

4   x 

Public Health Inspector 

Enforcement Actions – Q2 2019 

 

(Report No. 053-19) 

 

To provide an update and summary of 

enforcement activities for the second 

quarter of this year. 

 

Lead: Mr. Stephen Turner, Director, 

Environmental Health and Infectious 

Diseases 

5  x  

Unified Communications – 

Contract Award and 

Implementation 

(Report No. 054-19) 

Appendix A 

To provide an update and seek Board 

approval of contract award for a unified 

phone system 

 

Lead: Mr. Joe Belancic, Manager 

Procurment and Operations 

Laura Di Cesare, Director, Healthy 

Organization 

6   x 

Summary Information Report for  

September 

 

(Report No. 055-19) 

Health Canada 

Consultation on the 

Potential Market 

for Cannabis 

Health Products 

 

TykeTalk Lead 

Agency Transfer 

Funding 

To provide an update on Health Unit 

programs and services for September. 

 

Lead: Ms. Linda Stobo, Manager, 

Chronic Disease Prevention & Tobacco 

Control and Ms. Rhonda Brittan, 

Manager, Healthy Communities & 

Injury Prevention and 

Heather Lokko, Director, Healthy Start 



(Revised) 

3 

 
OTHER BUSINESS  
 

 Approve: 2020 Draft Board of Health, Governance Committee and Finance & Facilities Committee 

meeting dates 

 Next Finance and Facilities Committee Meeting: Thursday, October 3, 2019 @ 9:00 a.m.  

 Next Board of Health Meeting: Thursday, October 17,  2019 @ 7:00  p.m.   

 Next Governance Committee Meeting is scheduled for Thursday, November  2019 @ 6:00 p.m. 

 

CONFIDENTIAL  
 
The Board of Health will move in-camera to consider matters regarding identifiable individuals and to 

consider confidential minutes from the July 18, 2019 Board of Health meeting. 

 

ADJOURNMENT   

  

7   x 

Medical Officer of Health/ CEO 

Activity Report for September 

 

(Report No. 057-19) 

 

 

 

To provide an update on the activities 

of the MOH/CEO for September. 

 

Lead: Dr. Chris Mackie, Medical 

Officer of Health/CEO 

 

 

 

 

8 x  x Verbal Update - Vaping  

To provide a verbal update on illness 

linked to vaping and related issues. 

 

Lead: Dr. Christopher Mackie, Medical 

Officer of Health and CEO 

Linda Stobo, Manager, Chronic Disease 

Prevention and Tobacco Control 

9 x  x Verbal Update – Legionella   

To provide an update of the current 

investigation of legionella. 

 

Lead: Dr. Alexander Summers, 

Associate Medical Officer of Health 

10 x x x 
Verbal Update – Indigenous 

Learning Series Through Pillar 

Non-Profit  

 

To provide a verbal update on the 

Indigenous Learning Series Through 

Pillar Non-Profit and request Board of 

Health participation. 

 

Lead: Joe Antone, Manager, Health 

Equity and Indigenous Reconciliation 

Heather Lokko, Director Healthy Start 

Division 

Correspondence 

11   x September 2019 Correspondence   
To receive correspondence items a) 

though ee) 



PUBLIC SESSION – MINUTES 
MIDDLESEX-LONDON BOARD OF HEALTH 

 

Thursday, July 18, 2019, 7:00 p.m. 
399 Ridout Street North, London, Ontario 

Side Entrance (recessed door) 
MLHU Boardroom 

 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT:     Ms. Trish Fulton (Chair) 

Ms. Aina DeViet 

Mr. Ian Peer  

Mr. Matt Reid 

Mr. John Brennan 

Ms. Kelly Elliott 

Mr. Michael Clarke 

    Ms. Maureen Cassidy  

 

Regrets:   Ms. Elizabeth Peloza 

Ms. Tino Kasi 

   

Media:    Mr. Dan Brown 

 

OTHERS PRESENT:  Dr. Christopher Mackie, Secretary-Treasurer 

   Ms. Elizabeth Milne, Executive Assistant to the Board of Health and 

Communications Coordinator (Recorder) 

   Ms. Laura Di Cesare, Director, Healthy Organization 

   Mr. Jordan Banninga, Manager, Program Planning and Evaluation 

   Mr. Joe Belancic, Manager, Procurement and Operations 

   Ms. Misty Golding, Manager, Oral Health 

   Mr. Brian Glasspoole, Manager, Finance 

   Ms. Heather Lokko, Director, Healthy Start 

   Ms. Maureen Rowlands, Director, Healthy Living 

   Ms. Linda Stobo, Manager, Chronic Disease Prevention and Tobacco 

Control 

   Mr. Alex Tyml, Online Communications Coordinator 

   Ms. Adrina Zhong, Medical Student 

 

Chair Fulton called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 

 

DISCLOSURE OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

 

Chair Fulton inquired if there were any disclosures of conflicts of interest. None were declared. 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 

It was moved by Ms. Cassidy, seconded by Mr. Peer, that the AGENDA for the July 18, 2019 Board of 

Health meeting be approved. 

Carried 

MINUTES 

 

It was moved by Mr. Brennan, seconded by Ms. Elliott, that the MINUTES of the June 20, 2019 Board of 

Health meeting be approved as amended. 

Carried 

 

https://www.healthunit.com/july-18-2019-boh-agenda
https://www.healthunit.com/june-20-2019-boh-minutes


Public Session                                                            - 2 -                                         2019 July 18 

Middlesex-London Board of Health Minutes 

 

It was moved by Ms. De Viet, seconded by Mr. Peer, that the MINUTES of the June 26, 2019 Special 

Meeting of the Board of Health meeting be approved. 

Carried 

 

It was moved by Mr. Brennan, seconded by Mr. Clarke, that the draft MINUTES of the June 26, 2019 

Relocation Advisory Committee meeting be received. 

Carried 

 

It was moved by Ms. Elliott, seconded by Ms. Cassidy, that the draft MINUTES of the July 4, 2019 

Finance & Facilities Committee meeting be received. 

Carried 

 

There was a question and some discussion with regard to the impact on service delivery anticipated due to 

the proposed 2020–21 budget process. 

 

DELEGATIONS AND REPORTS 

 

July 4, 2019 Finance & Facilities Committee Meeting Update (Report No. 051-19) 

 

Mr. Reid provided an update on the July 4, 2019 FFC meeting and reviewed the following reports for the 

Board’s consideration: 

 

Multifunction Printers Contract Award (Report No. 025-19FFC) 

 

Mr. Reid outlined the cost savings (approximately $56,000 per year) expected under this new contract. 

 

It was moved by Mr. Reid, seconded by Ms. Elliott, that the Board of Health approve entering into a 

contractual agreement with Xerox Canada for the provision of office and production multi-function 

devices. 

Carried 

 

Proposed 2020–21 Budget Process, Criteria and Weighting (Report No. 026-19FFC) 

 

Mr. Reid introduced and summarized the report, as recommended by the Finance & Facilities Committee. 

 

Dr. Mackie provided an update on the most recent provincial policy file with regard to what the fiscal 

year might look like upon restructuring in 2020, and recommended that the Board add more flexibility in 

the third recommendation so that staff can have the option to develop a two-part budget if need be. 

 

Discussion ensued on the cost-of-living increase, and how it is to be accounted for and calculated. 

 

It was moved by Mr. Reid, seconded by Ms. De Viet, that the Board of Health: 

1) Approve the PBMA criteria and weighting that is proposed in Appendix A to Report No. 026-

19FFC; 

2) Approve requesting the full amount of the provincial cost-sharing reductions, but not cost-of-living 

pressures, from the municipal funders; and 

3) Approve the option of the development of a two-part budget representing the first quarter of 2020 

and, separately, the 12 months from April 2020 to March 2021. 

Carried 

Mr. Reid noted that the next FFC meeting will be in September. 

 

Child Visual Health and Vision Screening Protocol (Report No. 052-19) 

 

Ms. Golding answered questions and Dr. Mackie clarified when this protocol was introduced. 

https://www.healthunit.com/june-26-2019-boh-special-meeting-minutes
https://www.healthunit.com/june-26-2019-rac-minutes
https://www.healthunit.com/july-4-2019-ffc-minutes
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-07-18-report-051-19.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-07-06-report-025-19-ffc.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-07-06-report-026-19-ffc.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-07-18-report-052-19.pdf


Public Session                                                            - 3 -                                         2019 July 18 

Middlesex-London Board of Health Minutes 

 

Discussion ensued on the following items: 

 If staff are confident that the Ministry will grant a waiver of this standard. 

 How other health units can afford to do screening if they have no additional staff or funding. 

 If the Protocol is part of the Ontario Public Health Standards. 

 

It was moved by Ms. Elliott, seconded by Mr. Peer, that the Board of Health: 

1) Receive Report No. 052-19 re: “Child Visual Health and Vision Screening Protocol” for 

information; and 

2) Endorse staff communicating with the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care to request that the 

vision screening requirements of the Child Visual Health and Vision Screening Protocol (2018) 

be waived for MLHU. 

Carried 

 

Generative Conversation: Public Health Unit Amalgamation (Verbal) 

 

Chair Fulton introduced this discussion topic. Dr. Mackie provided the most recent information on 

amalgamation plans and the consultation process planned for the summer. 

 

Dr. Mackie recounted some of the conversations that had taken place at the staff level and at the recent 

South West Medical Officers of Health / CEOs meeting. He noted that some very good early relationship 

building and other productive conversations have been happening around timelines for dissolving Boards 

of Health in 2020. 

 

Dr. Mackie added that this discussion will provide insight into what is important about public health work 

and needs to continue, what input the Board of Health wishes to have, and how the Board aims to be 

involved in amalgamation planning. 

 

Dr. Mackie introduced two exercises to help inform the conversation and the Board’s mission: 

 

Exercise #1: 

A one-minute, personal essay about what each member would like to contribute to the world to 

make it a better place. 

 

Exercise #2: 

A partner exercise to discuss MLHU’s current mission to “protect and promote the health of our 

community.” Does this mission still apply in the context of amalgamation? Is there anything that 

ought to be adjusted as we look toward a new regional public health entity? 

 

Discussion ensued on the following items: 

 Building on the mission rather than changing it entirely. 

 Addressing local needs within a much larger, more diverse catchment area, and how to maintain a 

local focus in an expanded geographic area. 

 What defines a community; and the fact that “community” as it currently exists in our mission is 

singular in character, but with regionalization the new public health entity will be a collection of 

many diverse communities. 

 Locally accountable governance structure, and what governance models within such a structure 

might look like. 

 How to maintain local relationships tailored to local needs. 

 The consultation process for this summer, its timelines, and how it is likely to be structured. 

 

Essential Components for Local Public Health (Report No. 053-19) 

 

Ms. Fulton noted that she would like to write a cover letter for this report and appendix that summarizes the 

Health Unit’s discussions on this topic. 

https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-07-18-report-053-19.pdf


Public Session                                                            - 4 -                                         2019 July 18 

Middlesex-London Board of Health Minutes 

 

Dr. Mackie noted that Board Chairs are likely to be included in the next South West Medical Officers of 

Health / CEOs gathering to discussion amalgamation. 

 

It was moved by Mr. Clarke, seconded by Mr. Peer, that the Board of Health: 

1) Receive Report No. 053-19 re: “Essential Components for Strong Local Public Health” for 

information; and 

2) Direct staff to forward the Report in Appendix A to the Minister of Health, other boards of health, 

and relevant stakeholders. 

Carried 

 

Shared Funding for Consumption and Treatment Services (Report No. 054-19) 

 

Dr. Mackie introduced the report. Mr. Glasspoole provided context. 

 

The Board noted that this report accurately reflects the Health Unit’s position, commended MLHU and 

RHAC for their leadership in supervised consumption, and recognized all the work they have done to date 

to address the local opioid crisis. 

 

It was moved by Mr. Clarke, seconded by Ms. Cassidy, that the Board of Health: 

1) Receive Report No. 054-19 re: Shared Funding for Consumption and Treatment Services (CTS) Site 

for information and 

2) Approve declining $53,158 of funding for program staff that were already funded through the MLHU 

budget in 2018 in order to partially ease funding pressures faced by the Regional HIV/AIDS 

Connection (RHAC) in operating the CTS. 

Carried 

 
Summary Information Report for July (Report No. 055-19) 

 

Ms. Stobo introduced the report and provided context. 

 

Discussion ensued on the following items: 

 Targeting future campaigns toward vaping. 

 Marketing of vapour products to youth. 

 That nicotine levels in vapour products are so high that youth are becoming highly addicted. 

 
It was moved by Mr. Reid, seconded by Ms. Cassidy, that the Board of Health receive Report No. 055-19 

re: “Summary Information Report for July” for information. 

Carried 

 

Medical Officer of Health/CEO Activity Report for July (Report No. 056-19) 

 

It was moved by Mr. Peer, seconded by Mr. Reid, that the Board of Health receive Report No. 056-19 re: 

“Medical Officer of Health Activity Report for July” for information. 

Carried 

 

CORRESPONDENCE 
 

It was moved by Ms. De Viet, seconded by Ms. Elliott, that the Board of Health receive correspondence 

items a) through v). 

Carried 

 

 

 

OTHER BUSINESS 

https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-07-18-report-054-19.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-07-18-report-055-19.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-07-18-report-056-19.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-07-18-boh-correspondence.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-07-18-boh-correspondence.pdf


Public Session                                                            - 5 -                                         2019 July 18 

Middlesex-London Board of Health Minutes 

 

 

 Cancellation of August 15, 2019 Board of Health Meeting 

 

It was moved by Ms. Elliott, seconded by Mr. Peer, that the Board of Health cancel the August 15, 2019 

Board of Health meeting. 

Carried 

 

Chair Fulton reviewed the next meeting dates: 

 Finance & Facilities Committee: Thursday, September 5, 2019 @ 9:00 a.m.  

 Board of Health: Thursday, September 19, 2019 @ 7:00 p.m.   

 Governance Committee: Thursday, September 19, 2019 @ 6:00 p.m. 

 

CONFIDENTIAL 

 

At 8:28 p.m., it was moved by Ms. Cassidy, seconded by Ms. De Viet, that the Board of Health move in 

camera to consider matters regarding identifiable individuals and confidential minutes from the July 4, 

2019 Finance & Facilities Committee meeting and the June 26, 2019 Relocation Advisory Committee 

meeting and Special Meeting of the Board of Health. 

Carried 

 

At 9:22 p.m., it was moved by Ms. Elliott, seconded by Ms. De Viet, that the Board of Health rise and 

return to public session. 

Carried 

 

At 9:22 p.m., the Board of Health returned to public session. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

At 9:22 p.m., it was moved by Mr. Reid, seconded by Ms. Elliott, that the meeting be adjourned. 

Carried 

 

 

 

 

 

_________________________________   ______________________________ 

Trish Fulton      Christopher Mackie 

Chair  Secretary-Treasurer 



 

PUBLIC MINUTES 
FINANCE & FACILITIES COMMITTEE 

50 King Street, London 
Middlesex-London Health Unit 

Thursday, September 5, 2019    9:00 a.m. 
 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT:     Ms. Maureen Cassidy 

Ms. Trish Fulton 

 Ms. Tino Kasi  

Mr. Matt Reid (Chair) 

     

REGRETS:   Ms. Kelly Elliott 

 

OTHERS PRESENT:  Mr. Ian Peer, Board of Health  

  Dr. Christopher Mackie, Secretary-Treasurer 

   Ms. Lynn Guy, Executive Assistant to the Medical Officer of Health 

(Recorder) 

   Ms. Laura Di Cesare, Director, Corporate Services 

   Mr. Brian Glasspoole, Manager Finance 

   Ms. Nicole Gauthier, Manager Risk and Governance 

 

At 9:05 a.m., Chair Reid called the meeting to order. 

 

DISCLOSURE OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

 

Chair Reid inquired if there were any disclosures of conflicts of interest. None were declared. 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 

It was moved by Ms. Fulton, seconded by Ms. Kasi, that the AGENDA for the September 5, 2019 Finance 

& Facilities Committee meeting be approved. 

Carried 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

It was moved by Ms. Kasi, seconded by Ms. Fulton, that the MINUTES of the July 4, 2019 Finance & 

Facilities Committee meeting be approved. 

Carried 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

4.1   MLHU Draft Financial Statements – March 31, 2019 (Report No. 028-19FFC) 
 

Mr. Glasspoole presented the Health Unit’s audited Consolidated Financial Statements for programs in the 

operating year April 1, 2018–March 31, 2019. He noted that once the Blind Low-Vision, Preschool Speech 

and Language, and Infant Hearing Screening programs are transferred to the Thames Valley Children’s 

Centre (TVCC), the relevant funds will flow directly from the Ministry of Children and Youth Services to 

TVCC. 

 

It was moved by Ms. Cassidy, seconded by Ms. Fulton, that the Finance & Facilities Committee 

recommend that the Board of Health approve the audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the 

Middlesex-London Health Unit, March 31, 2019, as appended to Report No. 028-19FFC. 

Carried 

 

 

https://www.healthunit.com/september-5-2019-ffc-agenda
https://www.healthunit.com/july-4-2019-ffc-minutes
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-09-19-report-028-19-ffc.pdf


Public Session                                                            - 2 -                                         2019 September 5 

Finance & Facilities Committee Minutes 

 

4.2 Q2 Financial Update and Factual Certificate (Report No. 029-19FFC) 
 

Mr. Glasspoole provided context for this report. He explained that the Health Unit is expected to generate 

enough savings to offset the current deficit of $61,000. It was noted that much of the gapping funds were 

found by limiting hiring and restricting travel. 

 

It was moved by Ms. Kasi, seconded by Ms. Cassidy, that the Finance & Facilities Committee recommend 

that the Board of Health: 

1) Receive Report No. 029-19FFC re: “Q2 Financial Update and Factual Certificate” for 

information; and 

2) Approve the allocation of variance funds, above those required to offset the agency gapping 

budget, to relocation-related expenses to a maximum of $1 million in 2019. 

Carried 

 

4.3 2019 Budget – MOHLTC Approved Grants (Report No. 030-19FFC) 
 

Mr. Glasspoole advised the Committee that in addition to the funds expected from the Ministry of Health 

and Long-Term Care, the Health Unit will receive $1,861,400 for a new Ontario Seniors Dental Care 

Program and $10,000, via a one-time funding grant, for a Public Health Inspector Practicum Program. 

 

Mr. Glasspoole also noted that the Senior Leadership Team has asked that the hiring and travel restrictions 

be removed. 

 

Discussion ensued on the following items: 

 Municipal funding for upcoming years, and the uncertainty as to how much additional funding the 

municipalities will be asked to provide. 

 That a waiver process for Public Health Standards could help keep programs running with fewer funds. 

 The public health merger and modernization: that there has been no further information from the 

Ministry on amalgamations. 

 

Ms. Di Cesare noted that her Human Resources team has been monitoring the hiring freeze on a weekly 

basis to determine what work has been put on hold and where hiring for a vacant position is needed. With 

the Board’s approval, hiring practices will continue as they did before the restrictions were put in place. 

 

Staff provided further information on the Ontario Seniors Dental Care Program (OSDCP), noting that a 

more robust report will be sent to the Board of Health. It was noted that the funding for this program is 

annualized. Space for the program has been dedicated at the City Plaza location, and staff are looking at a 

mobile bus, a Strathroy location, and partnering with the Southwest Ontario Aboriginal Health Access 

Centre (SOAHAC) as well as with a retired dentist who is interested in working with seniors. Committee 

members were advised that the OSDCP restricts whom the Health Unit can partner with and does not 

permit the Health Unit to pay private dentists to perform work. Health Unit staff plan to work with Social 

Services at the City to ensure that residents who require service are directed to the clinic. 

 

It was moved by Ms. Fulton, seconded by Ms. Cassidy, that the Finance & Facilities Committee 

recommend that the Board of Health: 

1) Receive Report No. 030-19FFC re: “2019 Budget – MOHLTC – Approved Grants” for 

information; and 

2) Approve removing the deficit mitigation step with respect to recruitment as outlined in the April 

Board of Health Report No. 031-19 re: “Impact of 2019 Provincial Budget.” 

Carried 

 
4.4 Bylaw and Policy Review (Report No. 031-19FFC) 
 

Ms. Gauthier presented the report and noted that changes had been made to reflect current practices. 

https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-09-19-report-029-19-ffc.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-09-19-report-030-19-ffc.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-09-19-report-031-19-ffc.pdf


Public Session                                                            - 3 -                                         2019 September 5 

Finance & Facilities Committee Minutes 

 

 

Policy G-330 Gifts and Honoraria was updated to provide guidance on what types of honoraria the Health 

Unit can pay. Ms. Gauthier added that this policy had been compared with City and County policies. 

 

Policy G-240 Tangible Capital Assets received substantial revisions to align it with the accounting policies. 

 

Chair Reid requested that “track changes” be used when policies are brought to the Finance & Facilities 

Committee for review, so that the proposed changes are highlighted and may be compared. 

 

It was moved by Ms. Kasi, seconded by Ms. Cassidy, that the Finance & Facilities Committee: 

1) Receive Report No. 031-19FFC re: “Bylaw and Policy Review” for information; and 

2) Approve the governance by-laws and policies outlined within this report, which relate to the 

 financial operations of the Middlesex-London Health Unit to go to Governance Committee for final 

 review. 

Carried 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 

 

Next meeting: October 3, 2019. 

 

In Chair Reid’s absence, Ms. Cassidy will present the Committee’s summary at the Board of Health 

meeting on September 19. 

 

CONFIDENTIAL  

 

It was moved by Ms. Fulton, seconded by Ms. Kasi, that the Finance & Facilities Committee approve 

confidential minutes of the July 4, 2019 Finance & Facilities Committee meeting. 

Carried 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

At 9:45 a.m., it was moved by Ms. Fulton, seconded by Ms. Kasi, that the meeting be adjourned. 

Carried 

 

At 9:46 a.m., Chair Reid adjourned the meeting. 

 

 

_________________________________   ______________________________ 

MATTHEW REID      CHRISTOPHER MACKIE 

Chair  Secretary-Treasurer 
 

 

 

 



PUBLIC SESSION – MINUTES 
MIDDLESEX-LONDON BOARD OF HEALTH 

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE  
 

Thursday, June 20, 2019, 6:00 p.m. 
399 Ridout Street North, London, Ontario 

 Side Entrance, (recessed door) 
MLHU Boardroom 

 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT: Ms. Trish Fulton 

Mr. Ian Peer 

Ms. Elizabeth Peloza  

 

Regrets:   Ms. Aina DeViet (Chair) 

    Ms. Maureen Cassidy 

 

OTHERS PRESENT:  Mr. Matt Reid (Board member) 

Dr. Christopher Mackie, Secretary-Treasurer 

Ms. Elizabeth Milne, Executive Assistant to the Board of Health and 

Communications Coordinator (Recorder) 

Ms. Laura Di Cesare, Director, Healthy Organization 

Mr. Jordan Banninga, Manager, PPE 

Mr. Joe Belancic, Manager, Procurement and Operations 

Mr. Jeff Cameron, Stronghold Services 

Ms. Kendra Ramer, Manager, Strategic Projects 

Ms. Nicole Gauthier, Manager, Privacy, Risk and Governance 

Ms. Lilka Young, Health and Safety Coordinator 

Ms. Cynthia Bos, Manager, Human Resources 

 

Chair Fulton called the meeting to order at 6:02 p.m. 

 

DISCLOSURE OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

 

Chair Fulton inquired if there were any disclosures of conflicts of interest to be declared. 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 

It was moved by Mr. Peer, seconded by Ms. Peloza, that the AGENDA for the June 20, 2019 Governance 

Committee meeting be approved. 

Carried 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

It was moved by Ms. Peloza, seconded by Mr. Peer, that the MINUTES of the March 21, 2019  Governance 

Committee meeting be approved. 

Carried 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

Annual Privacy Program Update (Report No. 008-19GC) 

 

Discussion ensued about the following items: 

 The very few breaches listed in the privacy report, which is excellent for such a large organization. 

 Breaches where paper records were lost, and what occurred in this circumstance. 
 

Ms. Gauthier answered questions pertaining to the privacy breach where paper records were lost. 

 

 

 

https://www.healthunit.com/june-20-2019-gc-agenda
https://www.healthunit.com/march-21-2019-gc-minutes
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-06-20-008-19-gc.pdf


Public Session                                                            - 2 -                                                        2019 June 20 

Governance Committee 
 

It was moved by Ms. Peloza, seconded by Mr. Peer, that the Governance Committee receive Report No. 008-

19GC re: “Annual Privacy Program Update” for information. 
Carried 

 

Joint Occupational Health & Safety Annual Report – June 2019 (Report No. 009-19GC) 

 

Ms. Young answered questions pertaining to this report. 

 

Discussion ensued about the following items: 

 The comparative data contained in the report, attached as Appendix A.  

 Workplace domestic violence incidents, and how it is defined in the workplace. 

 Slips, trips falls and contact incidents; where the incidents are occurring, and if there is an expectation 

that these incidents might decrease in the new location. 

 The definition of non-employee incidents. 

 

It was moved by Ms. Peloza, seconded by Mr. Peer that the Governance Committee receive Report No. 009-19 

re: “Joint Occupational Health and Safety Annual Report – June 2019” for information. 

Carried 

 

Q2 2019 Activity Report - Strategic Projects (Report No. 010-19GC) 

 

Dr. Mackie introduced this report and noted that with the public health restructuring proposed for next April, it 

will limit how far staff can take the strategic planning process this year. 

 

Discussion ensued about the following items: 

 The wrap-up of current strategic plans, before restructuring, and what the close out of the strategic 

planning process might look like. 

 Projects that have been put on hold due to proposed restructuring. 

 That projects in the strategic plan are scalable, so could be linked with other health units should 

regionalization go forward. 

 That MLHU is in a position to help lead the roll-out of some larger-scale projects, which are built into the 

strategic plan, (such as Electonic Client Record), should these projects go forward through the strategic 

plan. 

 

It was moved by Ms. Peloza, seconded by Mr. Peer, that the Governance Committee receive Report No. 010-

19GC re: “Q2 2019 Activity Report – Strategic Projects” for information. 

Carried 

Mr. Banninga arrived at 6:18 p.m. 

 

Governance Policy Review and Development (Report No. 011-19GC) 

 

It was moved by Mr. Peer, seconded by Ms. Peloza, that the Governance Committee: 

1) Receive Report No. 011-19GC re: “Governance Policy Review and Development” for information; and 
2) Recommend that the Board of Health approve the governance by-laws and policies appended to this 

report. 
Carried 

 

2019 Board of Health Self-Assessment Results (Report No. 012-19GC) 

  

Ms. Gauthier answered questions and commented on the 90% response rate for the Board of Health Assessment 

survey, noting that it was clear that members of the Board made every effort to contribute meaningful feedback 

based on their experience and tenure with the Board. 

 

Mr. Reid arrived at 6:20 p.m. 

https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-06-20-009-19-gc.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-06-20-010-19-gc.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-06-20-011-19-gc.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-06-20-012-19-gc.pdf


Public Session                                                            - 3 -                                                        2019 June 20 

Governance Committee 
 

Discussion ensued about next steps in the assessment process to support the Board’s effectiveness in the months 

ahead, navigating system transformation as plans to restructure move forward. 

 

It was moved by Ms. Peloza, seconded by Mr. Peer, that the Governance Committee receive Report No. 012-

19GC re: “2019 Board of Health Self-Assessment Results” for information.  

Carried 

 

2018 Medical Officer of Health and Chief Executive Officer Performance Appraisal (Report No. 013-

19GC) 

 

Chair Fulton introduced this report and reviewed the report’s request to form a sub-committee for the Medical 

Officer of Health/CEO Performance Appraisal process. Chair Fulton noted that the composition of the sub-

committee is open to both the Governance Committee and the Board of Health. Chair Fulton also noted that the 

preference would be to strike a sub-committee of five members, and work forward from that point.  

 

Chair Fulton noted that Aina De Viet would be pleased to put her name forward to be a member of the sub-

committee. 

 

Discussion ensued about the composure of the MOH PA sub-committee, and members discussed their interest 

sitting on the sub-committee. 

 

The Medical Officer of Health/CEO sub-committee shall consist of: 

1. Ms. Aina De Viet (Governance Committee Chair, County representative) 

2. Ms. Trish Fulton (Board Chair, Provincial representative) 

3. Mr. Ian Peer (Provincial representative) 

4. Ms. Maureen Cassidy (Vice Chair, City representative) 

5. Mr. Matt Reid (City representative) 

 

It was moved by Ms. Peloza, seconded by Mr. Peer, that the Governance Committee: 

1) Receive Report 013-19GC; and  

2) Form a sub-committee to initiate the performance appraisal process for the Medical Officer of Health 

and Chief Executive Officer.  

Carried 

 

OTHER BUSINESS 

 

Next meeting: September 19, 2019 

 

CONFIDENTIAL 

 

It was moved by Mr. Peer, seconded by seconded by Ms. Peloza that the Governance Committee approve the 

confidential March 21, 2019 Governance Committee meeting minutes. 

Carried 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

At 6:30 p.m., it was moved by Mr. Peer, seconded by Ms. Peloza, that the meeting be adjourned. 

Carried 

 

 

_________________________________   ______________________________ 

TRISH FULTON      CHRISTOPHER MACKIE 

Board Chair  Secretary-Treasurer 

https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-06-20-013-19-gc.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-06-20-013-19-gc.pdf


 

 

                MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT 

 

                                  REPORT NO. 051-19 

 
 

 

TO:  Chair and Members of the Board of Health 
 

FROM: Christopher Mackie, Medical Officer of Health / CEO 
 

DATE:  2019 September 19 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

FINANCE & FACILITIES COMMITTEE MEETING – September 5, 2019 
 

The Finance & Facilities Committee (FFC) met at 9:00 a.m. on September 5, 2019. A summary of the 

discussion can be found in the draft minutes. 

 

Reports 
Recommendations for Information and the 

Board of Health’s Consideration 

Draft Financial Statements – 

March 31, 2019  

 

(Report No. 028-19) 

That the Finance and Facilities Committee recommend that the 

Board of Health approve the audited Consolidated Financial 

Statements for the Middlesex-London Health Unit, March 31, 2019 

as appended to Report No. 028-19FFC. 

Q2 Financial Update and Factual 

Certificate 

 

(Report No. 029-19FFC) 

That the Finance and Facilities Committee recommend that the 

Board of Health: 

1) Receive Report No. 029-19FFC re “Q2 Financial Update and 

Factual Certificate” for information; and  

2) Approve the allocation of variance funds, above those required 

to offset the agency gapping budget, to relocation-related 

expenses to a maximum of $1 million in 2019.  

2019 Budget – MOHLTC 

Approved Grants  

 

(Report No. 030-19FFC) 

That the Finance and Facilities Committee recommend that the 

Board of Health: 

1) Receive Report No. 030-19 FFC re:“2019 Budget – MOHLTC – 

Approved Grants” for information; and 

2) Approve removing the deficit mitigation step with respect to 

recruitment as outlined in the April Board of Health Report 031-

19 Impact of 2019 Provincial Budget.  

 

Bylaw and Policy Review 

 

(Report No. 031-19FFC) 

That the Finance and Facilities Committee:  

1) Receive Report No. 031-19FFC for information; and 

2) Approve the governance by-laws and policies outlined within 

this report, which relate to the financial operations of the 

Middlesex-London Health Unit to go to Governance 

Committee for final  review.  
 

 

The FFC’s next meeting will be on Thursday, October 3, at 9:00 a.m., at the Middlesex-London Health 

Unit, 50 King Street, Room 3A. 

 

This report was prepared by the Office of the Medical Officer of Health. 

 

 
Christopher Mackie, MD, MHSc, CCFP, FRCPC 

Medical Officer of Health / CEO 

 

 

https://www.healthunit.com/september-5-2019-ffc-agenda
https://www.healthunit.com/september-5-2019-ffc-minutes
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-09-19-report-028-19-ffc.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-09-19-report-029-19-ffc.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-09-19-report-030-19-ffc.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-09-19-report-031-19-ffc.pdf


                MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT 

 

                                    REPORT NO. 052-19 

 

 

TO:  Chair and Members of the Board of Health 

 

FROM: Christopher Mackie, Medical Officer of Health / CEO 

 

DATE:  2019 September 19 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

PUBLIC HEALTH INSPECTOR PROGRAM REVIEW 
 

Recommendation 

 
It is recommended that Report No. 052-19 re: “Public Health Inspector Program Review” be received for 

information. 

 

Key Points  

 Public Health Inspectors ensure regulatory compliance to protect health in a variety of settings. 

 A program review was conducted (Appendix A), which identified opportunities to improve efficiency 

and effectiveness of service delivery within public health inspection programs. 

 Several key recommendations were developed and enacted through the 2019 budget process. 
 
Background 

Public Health Inspectors (PHIs) conduct inspections and perform investigations in the areas of food-serving 

premises, housing, recreational camps, personal service settings, institutional facilities, dental and medical 

offices, pools and spas, and drinking water systems. Inspectors provide education to operators and the 

public, ensure assisted compliance with health hazard regulations, and, if necessary, provide enforcement to 

help prevent the public from acquiring illness and/or disease through their interactions with these settings. At 

MLHU, PHIs also support work in environmental health policy development, and rabies and infectious 

disease control. 

In 2016, Health Unit program teams were realigned in new divisions. Specifically, the reorganization saw 

the amalgamation and restructuring of the previous three Environmental Health teams (Food Safety; Safe 

Water and Rabies; and Health Hazard and Vector Borne Disease) into two new teams: the Food Safety and 

Healthy Environments (FSHE) team and the Safe Water, Rabies and Vector Borne Disease (SWRVBD) 

team. The previous Communicable Diseases team also had PHIs as part of its staffing complement. 

Communicable Diseases was renamed the Infectious Disease Control (IDC) team and continued to have 

embedded PHIs after the restructuring. 

A program review of the service delivery model was performed to evaluate workload balance, compliance 

with the Ontario Public Health Standards (OPHS), information technology needs, and learning and 

development opportunities, as well as to identify required revisions to current policies and procedures (see 

Appendix A). An environmental scan examining other models of service delivery among comparator public 

health units (PHUs) was also conducted. Overall, the program was judged to be performing well and 

continuously meeting its provincially assigned accountability indicators. Areas for improvement were also 

identified, along with recommendations for changes to ensure the most effective and efficient model of 

service delivery. 

 

  

  

https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-09-19-report-052-19-appendix-a.pdf
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-09-19-report-052-19-appendix-a.pdf


2019 September 19 -  2  - Report No. 052-19 

 

  

Key Program Review Recommendations 
 

Service Delivery Model 

Three models of PHI service delivery were considered: “generalist,” “specialist,” and “hybrid.” The hybrid 

model reflects the status quo, where inspectors work in one of three different teams, creating groupings by 

area of focus, each including several different types of premises. They are assigned zones and perform 

inspections on all the premises within the area of focus (e.g., all restaurants and special events, or all pools 

and spas, as well as rabies). The generalist model would provide the most efficient use of resources by 

having each PHI perform inspections on all premises within their assigned zone but would have the 

disadvantage of decreasing specialized knowledge of inspection techniques for specific types of premises. 

The specialist model would provide the most effective service delivery by developing a highly specialized 

focus on specific service settings but could lower efficiency, as achieving workload balancing would be 

more difficult. It was decided to continue using the hybrid model, as it provides the most versatility while 

allowing for an efficient use of resources. 

 

Workload Balance 

Optimal time-on-task for completion of each inspector activity was established by comparing against 

comparator health units, known best practices, and inspector and manager recommendations. These times 

were then used to determine the total amount of inspection activity time and travel time required for each 

team, and then divided by the number of inspectors per team to determine the individual workload for each 

inspector. This exercise also provided an estimate of the required level of staffing for each team. 

 

The program review identified a significant variance of 26% in workload balance between the three teams. 

The IDC team also faced increasing demands to investigate infection prevention and control (IPAC) 

complaints. To rectify the imbalance, one FTE was disinvested from the FSHE team and 0.5 FTE invested 

into the IDC team through the 2019 budget process. Low-risk food premises inspected by IDC inspectors 

were also reallocated to the FSHE team. These changes reduced the workload variance between teams to 

6%, increased resources to respond to IPAC complaints, and preserved some capacity in the FSHE team to 

provide support to the other two teams during seasonal workload surges. 

 

Inspection Zones 

Each location subject to inspection was plotted using arc-GIS software to create zones with balanced 

inspection rosters for each team. These zones were designed to promote improved collaboration between 

inspectors on the three teams and to provide extra support where required. The new zones also helped to 

decrease travel requirements, thereby reducing mileage expenses for inspectors. Through these measures, it 

was possible to achieve an additional disinvestment of $20,000 for travel expenses via the 2019 budget 

process. 

 

Next Steps 
 

The program teams will continue to implement further recommendations, including the development of new 

key performance indicators and enhancing quality assurance and continuous quality improvement activities. 

Findings and techniques from the program review will likely be helpful to identify alignment opportunities 

for public health inspection work among MLHU’s partners in the upcoming amalgamation. 

 

This report was prepared by the Office of the Director, Environmental Health and Infectious Disease 

Division. 

 
Christopher Mackie, MD, MHSc, CCFP, FRCPC 

Medical Officer of Health/CEO 

 



MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT – Public Health Inspector (PHI) Review – PRJT 023-2018 

 

 

Appendix A – Report No. 052-19 

Appendix A 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Health Inspector 
(PHI) Review 

PRJT 023-2018  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

July 11, 2019 

 

 

 

 

For information, please contact: 

Stephen Turner 
Director, Environmental Health & 
Infectious Diseases 
Middlesex-London Health Unit  
50 King St. 
London, Ontario 

N6A 5L7 
phone: 519-663-5317, ext. 2422  
e-mail: stephen.turner@mlhu.on.ca 

mailto:stephen.turner@mlhu.on.ca


MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT – Public Health Inspector (PHI) Review – PRJT 023-2018 

 

 

Appendix A – Report No. 052-19 

Appendix A  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

© Copyright 2019 
Middlesex-London Health Unit 
50 King Street 
London, Ontario 
N6A 5L7 

Cite reference as: Middlesex-London Health Unit (2000). 
Public Health Inspector (PHI) Review, Middlesex-London Health Unit 
London, Ontario:  

Authors: 
Stephen Turner 
David Pavletic 

Fatih Sekercioglu 
Mary Lou Albanese 
Amanda Harvey 
 
All rights reserved.



MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT – Public Health Inspector (PHI) Review – PRJT 023-2018 

i 

Table of Contents  

 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................. 1 

Key Program Review Recommendations .............................................................................................................. 1 

Service Delivery Model ....................................................................................................................................... 1 

Workload Balance ............................................................................................................................................... 1 

Inspection Zones ................................................................................................................................................. 2 

Next Steps ............................................................................................................................................................ 2 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................................. 3 

Assessment of Current State .................................................................................................................... 4 

PHI Activities .......................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Inspection / Investigation Work ........................................................................................................................ 4 

Non-Inspection Work ......................................................................................................................................... 4 

Survey of Comparator Public Health Units (Environmental Scan) ................................................................. 4 

Consideration of Service Delivery Model .............................................................................................................. 5 

Workload Analysis ................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Compliance with the Ontario Public Health Standards (Gap Analysis) ............................................................. 7 

Food Safety Standard .......................................................................................................................................... 7 

Healthy Environments Standard ........................................................................................................................ 8 

Infectious and Communicable Diseases Prevention and Control Standard ................................................... 8 

Safe Water Standard ............................................................................................................................................ 8 

Policy and Procedure Review .................................................................................................................. 9 

Information Technology Needs ............................................................................................................ 10 

Service Delivery Areas ........................................................................................................................... 11 

Update and Optimization of Inspection Zones. ................................................................................................. 11 

Implementation ..................................................................................................................................................... 13 

Quality Assurance, Continuous Quality Improvement, and Key Performance Indicators (QA / CQI / 

KPI)........................................................................................................................................................ 14 

Quality Assurance / Continuous Quality Improvement Activities ................................................................... 14 

Client Satisfaction ................................................................................................................................................. 15 

Health Equity ........................................................................................................................................................ 15 

Learning and Development Needs of Public Health Inspectors ......................................................... 16 

PHI Consultation .................................................................................................................................................. 16 



MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT – Public Health Inspector (PHI) Review – PRJT 023-2018 

 

 ii 

Appendix A – Report No. 052-19 

Appendix A 

The Canadian Institute of Public Health Inspectors (CIPHI) 

Continuing Professional Competency (CPC) Program .................... 16 

Change Management ............................................................................................................................ 17 

Summary of Recommendations ............................................................................................................ 18 

Service Delivery Model ......................................................................................................................................... 18 

Workload ................................................................................................................................................................ 18 

Alignment with Ontario Public Health Standards .............................................................................................. 18 

Policies and Procedures ........................................................................................................................................ 18 

Information Technology ....................................................................................................................................... 18 

Optimization of Inspection Zones ....................................................................................................................... 18 

Quality Assurance / Continuous Quality Improvement .................................................................................... 18 

Professional Development .................................................................................................................................... 18 

Appendix A – Environmental Scan ....................................................................................................... 19 

Appendix B – Workload Analysis .......................................................................................................... 20 

Appendix C – Gap Analysis ................................................................................................................... 21 

 



MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT – Public Health Inspector (PHI) Review – PRJT 023-2018 

 

1 

Appendix A – Report No. 052-19 

Appendix A 
Executive Summary 
 
Public Health Inspectors (PHIs) conduct inspections and perform investigations in the areas of food-serving 
premises, housing, recreational camps, personal service settings, institutional facilities, dental and medical offices, 
pools and spas as well as drinking water systems. Inspectors provide education to operators and the public, ensure 
assisted compliance with health hazard regulations and, if necessary, provide enforcement to help prevent the 
public from acquiring illness and / or disease through their interactions with these settings.  At the Middlesex-
London Health Unit, PHIs also support work in environmental health policy development, rabies and infectious 
disease control.   
 
In 2016, program teams were realigned within newly formed divisions at MLHU.  Specifically, the reorganization 
saw the amalgamation of the previous three Environmental Health teams (the Food Safety team, the Safe Water and 
Rabies team, and the Health Hazard and Vector Borne Disease team), restructured into 2 new teams (Food Safety 
and Healthy Environments (FSHE), and Safe Water, Rabies and Vector Borne Disease team (SWRVBD)). The 
previous Communicable Diseases team also had PHIs as part of its staffing makeup.  Communicable Diseases was 

renamed the Infectious Disease Control team (IDC) and continued to have embedded PHIs after program 
realignment.  
 
A program review of the service delivery model was performed to evaluate workload balance, compliance with the 
Ontario Public Health Standards (OPHS), information technology needs, learning and development opportunities, as 
well as to identify any required revisions to current policies and procedures.  An environmental scan examining 
other models of service delivery amongst comparator Public Health Units (PHU) was also conducted. Overall, the 
program was recognized to be performing well, continuously meeting its provincially assigned accountability 
indicators while areas for improvement were identified along with recommendations for changes to ensure the most 
effective and efficient model of service delivery.   
 

Key Program Review Recommendations 
 

Service Delivery Model 
 
Three models of PHI service delivery were considered. These included ‘generalist’, ‘specialist’ and ‘hybrid’.  The 
hybrid model reflected the status quo where inspectors work on one of three different teams creating groupings by 
area of focus, each including several different types of premises. They are assigned zones and perform inspections 
on all the premises within the area of focus (e.g. all food premises, or all pools and spas along with rabies).  The 
generalist model would provide the most efficient use of resources by having each inspector perform inspections on 
all premises within their assigned zone however would have the disadvantage of decreasing specialized knowledge of 
inspection techniques for specific types of premises.  The specialist model would provide the most effective delivery 
of service by developing a highly specialized focus on specific service settings but could decrease efficiency as 
workload balancing would be more difficult to achieve.  The hybrid model was chosen to continue as the service 
delivery model as it provided the most versatility while allowing for an efficient use of resources.  
 

Workload Balance 
 
Optimal time-on-task for completion of each inspector activity was established by comparing against comparator 
health units, known best practice, and inspector and manager recommendations. These times were then used to 

determine the total amount of inspection activity time and travel time required for each team, then divided by the 
number of inspectors per team to determine the individual workload for each inspector.  This exercise also provided 
an estimate of the required level of staffing for each team.  
 
The program review identified a significant variance of 26% in workload balance between the three teams.  The IDC 
team was also facing increasing demands to investigate Infection Prevention and Control (IPAC) complaints. To 
rectify the imbalance, one full-time equivalent was disinvested from the FSHE team and 0.5 FTE was invested into 
the IDC team through the FY2019 PBMA process.  Low-risk food premises inspected by IDC inspectors were also 

reallocated to the FSHE team.  These changes reduced the workload variance between teams to 6%, increased 
resources to respond to IPAC complaints, and preserved some capacity in the FSHE team to provide support for the 
other two teams during seasonal workload surges.  
 



MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT – Public Health Inspector (PHI) Review – PRJT 023-2018 

 

2 

Appendix A – Report No. 052-19 

Appendix A 

 

Inspection Zones 
 
Each location subject to inspection was plotted using arc-GIS software to create zones with balanced inspection 
rosters for each team.  These zones were designed to promote improved collaboration between inspectors on the 
three teams and to provide extra support, where required. The new zones also helped to decrease travel 
requirements, therefore decreasing mileage expenses for inspectors.  Through this work, an additional 
disinvestment of $20,000 for travel expenses was able to be put forward in the FY2019 PBMA process.   
 
 

Next Steps 
 
The program teams will continue to implement other recommendations including the development of new key 
performance indicators and enhancing Quality Assurance and Continuous Quality Improvement activities. Findings 
and techniques from the program review will likely be helpful to identify alignment opportunities for public health 
inspection work amongst MLHUs partners in the upcoming amalgamation.  

 



  

3 

Introduction 

A review of Public Health Inspector (PHI) activities was conducted to determine the best approach for organizing 
and delivering PHI activities within MLHU. The goal was to ensure the most effective and efficient program delivery 
model, as well as to identify an ideal balance of program responsibilities within each of the teams. The project team 
consisted of the Director of Environmental Health and Infectious Diseases (EHID) division, Program Managers for 
the Food Safety & Healthy Environments (FS&HE) team, the Safe Water, Rabies and Vector Borne Disease 
(SWRVBD) team and the Infectious Disease Control (IDC) team, along with support services from the MLHU Project 
Management Office. A project charter was created serving as a roadmap and resource for the project team. The 
MLHU strategic priority areas of Program Excellence, Employee Engagement and Learning, Client and Community 
Confidence and Organizational Accountability set the direction for the project and helped to guide the work.         

As a review of the Public Health Inspections program had not been conducted in quite some time, it became 
apparent that an assessment was necessary to examine PHI learning and development needs, service delivery 
models, performance measurement and ongoing monitoring of quality and performance indicators. Additional 

impetus for such a review was borne out of the most recent organizational restructuring in 2016 which resulted in 
the reorganization of this work into three teams under a newly created EHID division. Specifically, the 
reorganization saw the amalgamation of the previous three Environmental Health teams (Food Safety team, Safe 
Water and Rabies team and the Health Hazard and Vector Borne Disease team), restructured into 2 teams (FSHE 
team and the SWRVBD team). The previous Communicable Diseases team also had PHIs as part of its staffing 
makeup.  Communicable Diseases was renamed the Infectious Disease Control team (IDC) and continued to have 
embedded PHIs after program realignment. This change slightly broadened the scope of Environmental Health (EH) 
practice for PHIs, Program Assistants (PA) and Program Managers (PM), and further stimulated the desire to look at 
the specialized versus generalized program delivery models.     

In assessing the current state, an examination was undertaken of the existing service delivery model, including 
alignment with the Ontario Public Health Standards (OPHS), information technology requirements, learning and 
development needs and policy and procedure development.  An environmental scan examining other models of 
service delivery amongst comparator Public Health Units (PHU) was also conducted. From the assessment, 
recommendations were developed identifying areas for improvement which will serve to inform future program 
delivery within the three teams.    



  

4 

Assessment of Current State 

PHI Activities 

The current program delivery model within the three teams at MLHU resembles a ‘hybrid model’ of generalized and 
specialized work responsibilities.  In this model, the three-team structure offers some degree of specialization as, for 
the most part, program-specific activities are exclusive to each individual team.  As an example, the IDC team PHI’s 
work focuses primarily on infection and prevention control (IPAC) and enteric illness investigation while also 
conducting food safety inspections in institutional settings.  In the past, PHI work was quite general in nature 
whereby each inspector was assigned a geographical area of responsibility and all PHI-related work within the area 
would be assigned to that inspector.  More recently, additional program responsibilities and PHI specific 
competencies have moved program delivery towards a more specialized program delivery model.  The current 
‘hybrid model’ of service delivery has evolved locally over time to best address the need for efficiencies that come 
with a generalized service delivery model such as food safety inspections while recognizing the need to have 
specialization in areas that require a more extensive area of expertise. Areas of specialization included the small 
drinking water systems, personal service settings, seasonal farm housing, and work supporting vulnerable 
occupancies. An example of the hybrid model exists on the IDC team where PHIs conduct both specialized IPAC 

work along with food safety inspections in the institutional settings (e.g.: Long-Term Care Homes, Child Care 
Facilities and Hospitals).   

Inspection / Investigation Work 
The primary role of PHIs on all three teams is to conduct inspections and investigations. This work is delivered in 
accordance with the requirements as set out in the Health Protection and Promotion Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. H.7 and 
designated regulations, as well as under the Ontario Public Health Standards; Requirements for Programs, 
Services, and Accountability (OPHS) and related protocols and guidelines.  PHIs conduct inspections and perform 
investigations in the areas of food premises, housing, recreational camps, personal service settings, institutional 
facilities, dental and medical offices, pool and spas and drinking water systems, etc. Inspectors provide education 
to operators and the public, ensure assisted compliance with public health regulations, and, if necessary, provide 
enforcement to help prevent the public from acquiring illness and/or disease through their interactions with these 
settings. The PHI program review focused primarily on inspection and investigation (field work) activities of 
inspectors. All PHIs at MLHU, with the exception of the Rabies Coordinator role, have field work assignments which 
include a mix of inspection and investigation work.  The tasks performed by PHIs on the IDC team in performing 
the investigation of communicable diseases and outbreaks were accounted for in the workload calculation but was 
not a focus of this review.  

 

Non-Inspection Work 

In addition to inspection and investigation work, PHIs conduct various other program-related activities including 
committee work (internal and external), community presentations, project work and policy review and development.  
Some areas of focus include safe drinking water systems, management of outbreaks, climate change adaptation, 
built environment, environmental exposures and extreme weather alerting.  The OPHS, with its related protocols 
and guidelines, provides Boards of Health with direction to pursue planning activities in these areas of 
programming.  Currently, all PHIs have lead-role responsibilities for these areas of focus beyond solely inspection 
and investigation work, to provide for a mix of field work and project work.   

Survey of Comparator Public Health Units (Environmental Scan) 

The PHI Review included an environmental scan (Appendix A) to gather information regarding the current practices 

for organizing and delivering public health inspection responsibilities at public health units (PHUs) with comparable 
populations served and/or geography.  

The survey tool was developed and sent to City of Hamilton Public Health Services, Lambton Public Health, Niagara 
Region Public Health, Sudbury and District Health Unit, Region of Waterloo Public Health and Emergency Services, 
Oxford County Public Health and Emergency Services, Windsor-Essex County Health Unit and Simcoe-Muskoka 
District Health Unit.  All of the Public Health Units (PHUs) except Simcoe-Muskoka District Health Unit responded 
to the survey. Some PHUs were able to complete only some sections of the survey.  

Participants were asked to disclose the time allocation for various environmental health and infectious disease 
control activities in the field. The survey also inquired about staff allocations, title and the number of positions of 



  

5 

personnel who were not PHIs. Lastly, the respondents were asked to define whether they considered their program 
service delivery model to be generalized, specialized or hybrid.  

Overall, the environmental scan yielded fruitful results, with 87% response rate. The PHUs that participated in the 
survey shared similar challenges in identifying the most efficient and effective way to deliver public health 
inspection services in the field.  It should also be noted that the survey focused predominantly on ‘field work’ as 
opposed to other non-inspection PHI program activities.   

The survey answers revealed that there was no consistent approach in organizing and delivering PHI 
responsibilities in PHUs. While more than half of the surveyed PHUs utilize a generalized PHI service delivery 
model, 38% of the PHUs employed the hybrid model with a certain level of specialization required for the service 
delivery. The environmental scan also provided a list of professionals that work on the same team with PHIs such 
as Project Coordinator, Health Promoter, Environmental Health Specialist, Planner, and Supervisor.  

The allocated time for inspection activities in the field was captured from peer PHUs, revealing some variation in 
completion time. For example, the allocated inspection time of a high-risk food premises ranged from 60 minutes to 

120 minutes. The survey responses guided MLHU to make decisions on service delivery activities in the field and to 

make some adjustments in keeping with the average time allocations of comparator PHUs while considering the 
local context of delivering those services.  Time allocations were validated through management and staff 
consultation, and final allocations were used as a baseline to assess workload distribution amongst the three 
teams.  Locally, previous time estimates had high risk food premises as taking 3 hours to perform, on average.  
However, after the survey assessment and further consultation, the new time allocation was set to 2 hours as it was 
seen to better reflect the actual time required for the task.  Similar time rationalization was performed for each 
inspection activity.  

Consideration of Service Delivery Model 

Much deliberation surrounded the question of identifying the appropriate service delivery model for public health 
inspection activities at MLHU.  Three models of PHI service delivery were considered. These included ‘generalist’, 
‘specialist’ and ‘hybrid’.  The hybrid model reflected the status quo where inspectors work on one of three different 
teams creating groupings by area of focus, each including several different types of premises. They are assigned 
zones and perform inspections on all the premises within the area of focus (e.g. all food premises, or all pools and 
spas along with rabies).  The generalist model would provide the most efficient use of resources by having each 
inspector perform inspections on all premises within their assigned zone however would have the disadvantage of 
decreasing specialized knowledge of inspection techniques for specific types of premises.  The specialist model 
would provide the most effective delivery of service by developing a highly specialized focus on specific service 
settings but could decrease efficiency as workload balancing would be more difficult to achieve.   

In the environmental scan of comparator health units, just over half used a generalist model, while approximately 
one third chose to employ the hybrid model.  Few health units used a fully specialized model of service delivery as 
the hybrid model was seen to be able to provide an appropriate level of specialization where specialization was 

required.   

An additional consideration included ensuring sufficient resources were allocated to policy work and best practice 
development. The current hybrid model provides these opportunities but has often been performed by team 
managers, perhaps to the exclusion of their ability to focus on other managerial responsibilities such as quality 
assurance.  The generalist model was considered here to have the potential to create policy specialist positions 
within the teams to provide more focus on these tasks as they arose.  Notwithstanding some of the challenges, the 

PHIs at MLHU have been quite successful in developing best practices recognized across the province in areas such 
as providing education and materials for operators of small drinking water systems, pools and spas and developing 
an assessment of the local vulnerability to health impacts due to climate change.  Deeper expertise in Infection 
Prevention and Control investigations was identified as a growing need due to an increasing number of complaints 
from the public of perceived lapses in medical, dental and personal service settings.  

In evaluating the advantages and disadvantages of each model, the hybrid model was identified as providing an 
appropriate balance of specialty and efficiency for the Middlesex-London region.  An additional consideration was 
the environmental context in which this program review was occurring.  Significant organizational and team level 
change was in progress including a relocation of the organization’s operations and a recent transition for the FSHE 
and SWRVBD teams to using Activity Based Workspaces.  Any changes brought forward as a result of the program 
evaluation would have to be weighed in this context.  In this light, no significant change to the service delivery 



  

6 

model was recommended as the hybrid model was seen as the most appropriate to address the demands of the 
program while also being least disruptive to operations.  

Table 1. Advantages and Disadvantages of Potential Service Delivery Models 

 Generalist Specialist Hybrid 

Advantages - More efficient - work can be equally 
divided amongst all employees. 
 

- Flexible – PHIs can easily cover for 
each other when workload surges 
occur.  

 
- Provides high degree of inspection 

variability for PHIs (more 
interesting) and helps PHIs maintain 
core competencies. 

 
- Provides opportunity to identify 

FTEs to work explicitly on policy and 
best practice development. 

 
 

- More effective – PHIs 
develop expertise within 
area of specialty leading to 
increased quality of 
inspection and potentially 
decreasing public risk. 
 

- Higher ability to research 
and develop policy and best 
practices. 

- Balance of effectiveness and 
efficiency 
 

- Moderate flexibility – 
members within each team 
can cover for each other 
during absences and surges. 
Coverage can be provided 
between teams during surges 
where required (though 
some support would be 
required). 

 

Disadvantages - Less effective - Certain inspection 
categories require nuanced and 
specialized knowledge. Could lead to 
some risk of missing more granular 
findings during inspections.  
 

- Lower ability for best practice 
development (though, may have 
more time opportunities to do so). 

- Less efficient – more 
difficult to allocate staff 
evenly to specialist 
activities. 

 
- Workload fatigue – low 

variability of work could 
lead to employee 
disengagement. 

- Compromise in either 
effectiveness or efficiency to 
attain an acceptable degree 
of both.  
 

- Moderate challenge to 
allocate staff evenly. 

 
- Reduced ability to provide 

cross-team coverage. 

 

Workload Analysis 

In assessing the workload of the three teams, the project team worked to identify both the key common activities 
across IDC, SWRVBD and FSHE and the team-specific duties of PHIs.  The activity analysis allowed for an overall 
assessment of the time required to perform the functions of a PHI within each team.   

Common activities included time spent in meetings, performing general administrative tasks such as time tracking 
and correspondence, professional development, and phone duties. This provided an estimate of the annual time 
required by each PHI to perform these activities. Average vacation and sick time were added to this value to identify 
the total amount of non-inspection time required.  Analysis of these activities showed they represented 
approximately 40% of the total reported PHI functions.  

Inspection activities were then identified through data extracts from Hedgehog and entered into a master 
spreadsheet (Appendix B). The accuracy of Hedgehog time-on-task extracts, however, was considered to be 
somewhat limited due to variability of operator entries. Once acquired, average time estimates for each activity were 

further refined through an analysis of historic time requirements locally, an environmental scan of comparable 
health units, and validation exercises with the project team and then the front-line PHIs during team meetings.  
These time estimates were defined as the time between the arrival of the inspector at the premises until the time of 
their departure.  Travel time was separated from the estimate to allow for calculation by differentiating between 
urban and rural premises.   

Each inspection activity line in the spreadsheet identified: task, associated team, number of inspections total, 
number of urban inspections, number of rural inspections, number of annual required visits, and the time required 
to perform the task based on the average time estimate for that activity.  Travel time was then calculated by 
identifying the one-way travel time requirement to the inspection (on the assumption that the departure from that 
inspection would be the start of the one-way travel segment to the next inspection).  Travel time per segment was 
estimated at 15 minutes for urban premises and 30 minutes for rural premises.  With these factors, the 
spreadsheet calculated the total annual time required to perform all activities for the associated task.   



  

7 

Annual activity task time was subsequently used to identify the amount of total inspection-related task time for 
each of the three teams.  The environmental scan identified that most PHUs surveyed assigned approximately 700 
hours of inspection work to their PHIs. The current state time-on-task per employee was calculated by dividing the 
hours attributed to each team by the number of PHIs on those teams. Through this activity, the project team 
identified a workload disparity between teams.   

The next task required the project team to balance the workload between the teams.  In the current state, the 
workload variance between the three teams was 22%. The 2019 PBMA process identified a 0.5 FTE enhancement to 
the PHI complement on the IDC team for Infection Prevention and Control Activities and two 0.5 FTE PHI 
disinvestments from the FSHE team for a net total change of a 0.5 FTE reduction in PHIs.  As there had recently 
been a 0.5 FTE vacancy created through the movement of one half-time PHI into a vacated full-time spot, no layoffs 
were required to accomplish this change.  The total MLHU complement of PHIs thus changed from 27.5 FTE to 27.0 
FTE and became the basis for assumptions in workload balancing for the future state proposal.   

Table 2: Current State Workload Distribution 

Total FTE    Current FTE Insp hrs / PHI 

Team Hours      

FSHE 10279  16  642.438  

IDC 4540.13  5.5  825.477  

SWRVBD 4453.75  6  742.292  

The spreadsheet allowed for an ‘at-a-glance’ perspective on the entirety of operational duties of PHIs at MLHU and 
provided the opportunity to visualize the workload impacts of moving personnel and / or tasks between teams.  

Various combinations of these adjustments were explored to arrive at a generally equitable workload balance.  From 
this examination, the preferred solution was to move 0.5 FTE PHI from FSHE to IDC Team and reallocate the work 
associated with Low Risk Food Inspections for Extended Day Programs from the IDC team to the FSHE team.  In 
doing so, the workload variance between the three teams was brought to within 6%.  This variance allows for some 
residual capacity to support surge activity in other teams.  

Table 3: Future State Workload Distribution 

Total FTE    Future FTE Insp hrs / PHI 

Team Hours     

FSHE 10436.8  15  695.783 

IDC 4382.38  6  730.395 

SWRVBD 4453.75  6  742.291 
 

Compliance with the Ontario Public Health Standards (Gap Analysis) 

The PHI work delivered by the three teams was reviewed with the intent of identifying the most effective and 
efficient delivery of services and to ensure alignment with the requirements set out in the Ontario Public Health 
Standards (OPHS), 2018.  The purpose of the Gap Analysis (Appendix C) was to analyze the current programs and 
to identify any gaps preventing the teams from achieving the desired state, as it relates to compliance with the 

provincial standards.   

After reviewing the requirements set out in the relevant program standards, some gaps were identified in program 
delivery which may serve to create some degree of vulnerability with respect to compliance with the OPHS, 2018.  
The relevant program standards include the Food Safety Standard, the Healthy Environments Standard, the 
Infectious and Communicable Diseases Prevention and Control Standard and the Safe Water Standard.  The 
program activities identified within a program standard may cross different teams in which the PHIs conduct their 
work.  For example, the FSHE team and the IDC team both conduct work under the Food Safety Standard.   

Food Safety Standard 

Some identified gaps within the Food Safety Standard include the need for a monitoring and evaluation process and 
inspection, disclosure and reporting requirements.  Currently, there are components of the food safety program that 



  

8 

are delivered without regular monitoring and evaluation.  A Quality Assurance (QA) and Continuous Quality 
Improvement (CQI) program would allow for better monitoring and evaluating of the program components, to assess 
the effectiveness of food safety strategies and interventions.  Additionally, the Food Safety Protocol requires some 
new reporting fields to be included for disclosure, along with the inspections and enforcement of Food Handler 
Training certification in food premises currently not being inspected due to level of risk and logistical considerations 
presenting challenges for inspection work. A risk-based approach has been taken to address food safety in some of 
these environments including breakfast and school nourishment programs where the risks are relatively low and 
difficult to monitor.    

In addition to these gaps, there were identified areas where program delivery could be enhanced to better achieve 
program outcomes.  An example includes developing materials in other languages and providing more culturally 
relevant public health interventions to meet the needs of our diverse communities in Middlesex-London, and 
utilizing social media more often for food safety messaging.        

Healthy Environments Standard 

The Healthy Environments Standard includes new programming requirements, which were not identified in the 

OPHS, 2008.  Building on the Vulnerability Assessment, 2014 for Middlesex-London, future program planning 
must adjust program delivery to ensure it is geared towards identified vulnerable populations. This can be achieved 
through ongoing monitoring of the impacts of climate change, community collaboration and delivering targeted 
public health interventions geared to individuals most at risk in Middlesex-London. In addition to climate change 
adaptation work, there is a need to enhance surveillance to address local health hazards identified in the built and 
natural environments and those hazards considered to be large contributors to the overall burden of illness.   

PHIs at MLHU currently conduct housing inspections at provincially licensed group homes as well as municipally 
licensed boarding / lodging homes, however there is a growing number of ‘Vulnerable Occupancies’ operating in 
Middlesex-London whereby individuals are providing rooms and care services to vulnerable residents in our 
community that are not currently regulated. Enhancements to programming will aim to ensure that our vulnerable 
residents experience improvements in living conditions and are connected with services that aim to improve their 
quality of life.   

Infectious and Communicable Diseases Prevention and Control Standard 

The goal of the Infectious and Communicable Disease Prevention and Control Standard is to reduce the burden of 
communicable diseases and other infectious diseases of public health significance.  Generally, there is a good 
monitoring system in place to investigate and respond to reportable diseases in a timely and effective manner.  
However more proactive upstream approaches in regards to communication strategies, material / resource 
development and surveillance activities could be implemented at the IDC team level. In addition, some additional 
program work is required in the areas of correctional facilities and with under housed / vulnerable populations. 
Addressing these identified gaps would serve to improve health outcomes and bring the MLHU into further 
compliance with the requirements set out in the OPHS. Currently, much of the work related to communications 
and resource development is reactive in nature, responding to an existing issue of concern, as opposed to 
proactively addressing issues which may present through ongoing surveillance efforts.    

Safe Water Standard 

The Safe Water program will need to focus more attention towards ongoing surveillance and identification of the 
emerging trends related to water safety. This is an identified gap in the Safe Water program, and an area for 

program development. In addition, there is a need to increase public awareness of water-borne illnesses and safe 
drinking water by working with community partners. The SWRVBD team should work on developing 
communication strategies by analyzing the local data. In addition, communication strategies should be further 
leveraged to reach the populations that are more in need of the services.   



  

9 

Policy and Procedure Review 
Beginning in 2017, prior to and concurrent with the work of the Public Health Inspector review, the Environmental 
Health and Infectious Disease (EHID) Division began a review of their policies and procedures. In many cases, the 
existing policies and procedures were outdated and redundant with duplicate procedures existing between those 
teams with cross over roles e.g. food safety. Updated policies and procedures were needed prior to completing the 
Public Health Inspector review to ensure that management was considering revised protocols and regulations and 
best practices. This will ensure alignment of appropriate staffing allocation with established policies and 
procedures. 

The EHID policy review overall purpose was to; 

1. Develop a new EHID policy structure to align current team policies and remove unnecessary and duplicate 
policies, 

2. Review and revise policies to ensure MLHU is addressing legislated and mandated requirements in the 

Health Protection and Promotion Act and the Ontario Public Health Standards in addition to following 
current guidelines of chosen authorities, and 

3. To reformat current policies into new templates. 

Through this process, the EHID policies and procedures would be organized across the Division according to 
modernized Standards with duplicate and obsolete policies removed.  Upon completion, policies and procedures 
would be centralized on the MLHU HUB and accessible to all staff. 

The process map and charter for the policy and procedure review was developed by the Division Director and 
Managers with the assistance from a Program Evaluator.  Based on an established Review Schedule, each Manager 
determined if a single policy or procedure was to be reviewed or a group of policy documents required review.  Each 
manager established a policy review team and a Policy Review Lead to operationalize the review process.  

The Program Evaluator developed an Alignment Survey to be used to categorize each policy and procedure 
according to the following categories: 

a. Review - Policies where documented practice is up-to-date (incorporate current mandate and best practice), 
but may need updating in terms of Division/team name and/or format.  These policies will be included as 
part of the regular review cycle and the template updates will occur at that time. 

b. Revise - Policies requiring minor updates such as medication dosage and/or equipment changes. 

c. Redraft - Policies requiring major changes.  Mandates and/or known best practices are not reflected in the 
policy document. 

d. Obsolete – Policies to be deleted as they are no longer relevant due to change in mandate and best practice.   

To date, the three teams have completed the review of all their policies and procedures.  These teams continue to 
work on revising or redrafting their policies and procedures based on the results of the Alignment Survey.  

  



  

10 

Information Technology Needs 
The PHIs have been using the Hedgehog ‘Classic’ database since 2007. This database had reached the end of its 
lifespan and requires upgrading to a modern platform for improved performance and functionally.  Additionally, the 
teams were experiencing an increased volume of computer errors and glitches related to the program, thereby 
further increasing the need to conduct an upgrade. Options for updated inspection reporting software including 
upgrading the Hedgehog database system and seeking other suitable software systems were explored.  While other 
software options were identified, they were not generally employed by other PHUs.  An upgrade to Hedgehog 
database and platform was offered at marginal cost and was the most easily implemented option while meeting 
program requirements.  As a result, the upgrade to the existing system was chosen. 

The migration to a new program required several steps including the actual data conversion and validation process, 
application administrator and end-user training as well as some degree of data configuration.  Additionally, the new 
program will allow for remote data synchronization to occur without the need to return to the office for a network 
connection to the main server, which will aim to improve efficiencies through reductions in travel costs.  This added 
feature will allow the advantages of Activity Based Workspaces to be better leveraged as there will be less of a 

requirement for PHIs to return to the office to upload their inspection reports on a daily basis. Any IT needs that 
aim to improve field efficiency and program effectiveness that can be leveraged to support PHI ‘field work’ should be 
explored on a go-forward basis.     

Coinciding with the need to upgrade the inspection software program, was a need to develop a new inspection 
disclosure website to meet new requirements in the OPHS for disclosure of institutional food and child care 
infectious control inspections while amalgamating all inspection results and enforcement disclosure activities into 
one website. MLHU discloses DineSafe inspection results separately from Personal Service Setting results and 
Recreational Water results as these modules were developed after the original disclosure platform was built.  A new 

amalgamated site will be accessible through the MLHU website, blend in with existing branding and provide 
additional disclosure requirements while housing all inspection results, from all three teams, under the one 
website.   

In addition to the need to update software required to support the inspection programs, the Food Handler Training 
program at MLHU is currently using an older Access database for the administration of client registration and 
inventory.  The software is not performing well, is providing lags in efficiency thereby presenting a barrier to 
providing optimal client service.  A new IT solution will be required to allow for more client friendly registration / 
payment, and data storage and should be explored further in 2019, perhaps through the context of a larger Food 
Handler Training review.   

  



  

11 

Service Delivery Areas 

Update and Optimization of Inspection Zones. 

The decision to create new work areas for all three teams was based on information obtained through the 
environmental scan, identified opportunities for efficiency gains and program improvements, and the desire to 
improve intra-divisional collaborations.  At the time of review, the IDC work areas were rather dissimilar to the work 
areas of the other two teams, which inhibited the ability for PHIs from different teams to collaborate and provide 
mutual support where required.  Additionally, much of the work on the EH teams had previously been assigned 
across the broader city and county resulting in a significant amount of time and cost associated with travel. It was 
identified that travel time and cost factors could be improved by redesigning the zones of work.     
 
Using data from the upgraded Hedgehog program, ARC GIS software was utilized to map out all existing facilities 
requiring inspection. In addition to the facility details, additional animal bite investigations and Complaints / 
Service Requests (CSR) requiring site visits were mapped to provide a graphical illustration on existing trends, also 

used to better inform PHI workload distribution and work area development.  The resulting product established new 
work zones that provided balanced work assignments for inspectors, reduced travel distances, and better 
opportunities for collaboration and support between teams.   

 
The following tables illustrate the new team work areas. Variations between work area models are noted to address 
individual team needs and resources.    
 
 

Table 4: Safe Water, Rabies and Vector Borne Disease Team 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The SWRVBD team utilized 4 city quadrants given the 
lesser number of facilities than FSHE. PHIs on the 
SWRVBD team will complete all Safe Water and Rabies 

Control work assigned in their respective quadrants. 
NOTE: Assignments in Middlesex County for both the 
FSHE team along with the SWRVBD is divided among 
three PHIs and is general in nature, however these 
PHIs also have specialized programming such as 
migrant farms and Small Drinking Water Systems. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

  



  

12 

Table 5: Food Safety & Healthy Environments Team  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The FSHE team is the largest of the three teams 
in terms of PHI complement with the largest 
corresponding number of facilities to inspect.  
Therefore, the city quadrants were further 
subdivided to create three work areas per 
quadrant, with the South East quadrant being the 
exception with 2 work areas.   
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Table 6: Infectious Disease Control Team 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
The IDC team also utilizes a quadrant approach to 
work area distribution with the difference being 
that the quadrants extend from city through 
Middlesex County, and are not subdivided by 
municipality. Geographic areas are used in IDC for 
inspection work pertaining to personal service 
settings, long-term care homes, retirement homes 
and child care facilities.     
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 



  

13 

Implementation 
Implementation of the new structured work areas coincided closely to the go-live date of the new Hedgehog 
program. This required transitioning the names of the old work areas to the new work areas in order to capture all 
of the facilities each PHI was responsible for.  This was not a seamless transition, as a process did not currently 
exist for ‘mass’ work area transfers, however, the Data Analyst was able to provide a listing of all facilities that were 
mapped out, which were then provided to the area PHIs.  The PHIs received the tables and began reallocating the 
new work areas, which required minor data entry.  Once the facilities were reassigned to the new work areas, they 
were cross referenced with the old areas to ensure that all facilities were accounted for.  This process occurred 

concurrent to any investigation / inspection activities and was completed within a few work days.   

 

  



  

14 

Quality Assurance, Continuous Quality Improvement, and Key 
Performance Indicators (QA / CQI / KPI) 
An important objective of the PHI program review was to identify opportunities for continuously improving the 
quality of the delivery of these programs.  Current state QA/CQI activities included: 

 Time tracking via Outlook Calendars 

 Review of inspection reports prior to performance appraisals 

 Onsite inspection reviews in response to client complaints 

 On-job training seminars and webinars 

 Providing publicly available inspection reports online 

Discussions with staff and managers identified that there was inconsistency in how these activities were conducted 
and that a more purposeful approach to enhancing the quality of service delivery was needed.   

Quality Assurance / Continuous Quality Improvement Activities 

The Public Health Inspector Program would likely benefit from the development of more comprehensive QA / CQI 
activities undertaken by managers on a regular basis.  Current barriers to these activities have included managerial 
workload, no formally established assessment parameters, and a lack of readily accessible data.   

Upgrades to the new Inspection Reporting system, Hedgehog, provide a suite of managerial reports including at-a-
glance summaries of task completion at the inspector and team level, real-time reporting of inspection compliance, 
issued orders and resolved enforcement activities.  Further capabilities will be explored as staff and managers 
become more familiar with the software.  As MLHU has opted to host the Hedgehog servers, the opportunity exists 
to leverage business analytics software to create performance dashboards.  

Development of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) in collaboration with the EHID Director and the Program 
Planning and Evaluation team will help to develop dashboards and track progress and improvement.  Using the 
workload time allocation assumptions developed for the program review, performance can be measured against 
these standards to identify if the assumptions are correct, ensure workload balance is maintained across teams and 

between inspectors, and to determine level of resources required to ensure mandates continue to be met. 

An example of KPIs that could be derived from existing data sources could include: 

 Current accountability indicators 

 Re-inspection rate by category of premises 

 Common infraction types 

 Length of time to resolve closure notices or other Section 13 Orders 

 Response to Complaints and Service Requests (CSRs) 

Managers identified that having clear guidelines on expectations for performance review of inspectors would be 
helpful.  It is recommended that these expectations include that managers take the opportunity to accompany each 
inspector on at least one inspection annually to provide the manager with insight into common infractions and 
issues encountered by operators, challenges and barriers to work performed by inspectors, and a general 
opportunity to observe the performance of inspectors in the field.  Likewise, managers should be reviewing 
inspection reports on a frequent basis and providing staff with feedback on their findings as well as to ensure data 
is entered in a consistent manner so that it can be useful for identifying issues and trends at the population level.   



  

15 

Quality and consistency of inspection activities will be important to assess.  Use of data from the Hedgehog system 
will be helpful to identify wide variances in performance between staff so that opportunities for education can be 
found at the individual, group and team level.  This will help to develop subject matter for in-house, online or 
consultant-based training and ties in with the learning and development needs of public health inspectors 
identified elsewhere in this report.    

Client Satisfaction 

Through the work of the Office of the Chief Nursing Officer, Middlesex-London Health Unit has embarked on a 
client experience survey to better understand how clients perceived the manner in which services are delivered by 

the Health Unit and to help improve how the Health Unit can meet the needs of those served.  During the 
development phase of the survey, it was identified that there was a need to survey those who were mandated to 
receive services from the Health Unit differently than those who were seeking services.  It is more challenging to 
survey those who face the risk of enforcement activities such as fines, suspensions and closures and, so, it was 
decided that a different survey would be developed for these clients and delivered after the service seeking clients 
were surveyed.  Inspectors and team managers will work with the office of the CNO to assist in developing questions 
that can help provide meaningful input that can identify opportunities for improvement in program delivery.   

Health Equity 

The work currently being done at the Middlesex-London Health Unit on health equity provides an opportunity to 
explore how inspection activities can help to achieve equitable health outcomes.  The National Collaborating Centre 
for Environmental Health has developed a framework for action on the social determinants of health and health 
equity for public health inspectors.  Amongst other resources, the document “Towards Health Equity: Practical 
Actions for Public Health Inspectors” can be a helpful tool in helping to address MLHUs health equity objectives 
within environmental health programs.   

http://nccdh.ca/images/uploads/comments/EN_EHO_Framework_161004_AM_FINAL.pdf 

  

http://nccdh.ca/images/uploads/comments/EN_EHO_Framework_161004_AM_FINAL.pdf


  

16 

Learning and Development Needs of Public Health Inspectors 
PHI Consultation 

PHIs require opportunities to regularly attend professional development activities at the Middlesex-London Health 
Unit (MLHU) and elsewhere. PHIs were consulted to develop a strategy for learning and professional development 
activities. Based on the feedback received from PHIs, the following four types of development were highlighted:  

 In-services: Program focused in-services to PHIs delivered by the program leads should be regularly 

scheduled to ensure PHIs keep the required level of competency and access to the most current information 
about these programs. Some examples are Rabies and Healthy Menu Choices Act (HMCA) training in-
services.  

 External meetings with stakeholders: Organizing meetings with stakeholders assists PHIs in keeping 
abreast of current organization and industry practices. E.g. Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA), 
Ontario Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and Parks (MOECP), pool companies and well water 

treatment equipment, etc. 

 Workshops: With the new Environmental Regulations enacted recently, there is more short form wording, 

therefore enforcement activities are expected to increase based on the new regulations. Workshops focusing 
on legal enforcement and investigations are needed by PHIs. Organizing workshops in other relevant areas 
would also facilitate learning and professional development. With the new focus on policy, advocacy and 
collaboration identified throughout the OPHS and related protocols, policy and communication themed 
workshops would assist PHIs in enhancing skill development. 

 Conferences/webinars: Attending conferences and webinars also facilitate learning and networking with 

other PHIs in the field.  

The Canadian Institute of Public Health Inspectors (CIPHI) Continuing Professional 
Competency (CPC) Program 

The CPC program requires PHIs, who are existing CIPHI members, to obtain 80 Professional Development Hours 
(PDHs) per calendar year. These PDHs can be obtained through various activities including course work, attending 
conferences, workshops or webinars, acting as an assigned mentor, providing job shadowing or professional 
promotion, serving on boards, volunteering time in a professional and ethical capacity, giving professional 
presentations outside of one’s regular job duties, publishing codes, standards and journal articles, and through 
reflective practice.  All PHIs achieving certification post-2017, are required to maintain membership, in good 
standing, through participation in the CPC program.  In previous years, not all PHIs at MLHU have participated in 
the CPC program and current membership rates have lingered around 50%.    

In an effort to support PHIs in gaining and maintaining the skills, knowledge and abilities essential to the 
profession, it is recommended that a training plan be implemented to ensure that all PHIs at MLHU are able to 
fulfill the required PHI-specific competencies through the delivery of in-house opportunities.  A plan that aims to 
monitor and record PDHs for PHIs will help to establish an ongoing learning program while also assisting to 
facilitate active membership for those not currently mandated to do so.  Such a process aligns with the MLHU 
strategic priorities in the areas of program excellence and employee engagement and learning.   

http://www.ciphi.ca/pdf/prodev.pdf 

  

http://www.ciphi.ca/pdf/prodev.pdf


  

17 

Change Management 
Successful implementation of structural and organizational change requires a carefully considered strategy to 
inform and involve key stakeholders, especially affected staff. From the onset of the PHI review, management 
acknowledged that the review process and its outcome may impact the working conditions of the PHIs.  

During the review process, the managers of the three teams expressed the importance of ensuring strategies were in 
place to minimize the impact on the inspectors of the changes, proposed or implemented, as a result of the program 
review. To minimize these impacts, management aimed to be transparent with staff about the review as it was in 
process and provided the inspectors with the objectives/purpose of the review. Throughout the process, mainly at 
team meetings, staff were provided with periodic updates and data such as the inspection completion time model 
was shared and validated with the PHIs. As needed, individual managers communicated and engaged with their 
respective teams.  

Upon completion of the review, communication of the findings was seen as vital to change management and to 
effectively implement the change. All PHIs were invited to hear the preliminary results provided by the Division 

Director who redefined the rationale and vision of the review.  This opportunity provided all Inspectors to hear the 
program review summary, ask questions and provide feedback. The information was presented to underline that 
although the PHIs are spread out into three teams, there are many commonalities and strengths among the teams 
that are realized especially when opportunities are seized to enhance collaboration. 

On an ongoing basis, managers are making all efforts to integrate the recommended changes with minimal impact 
on the staff.  The project team acknowledges that opportunities existed to better engage inspectors throughout the 
process such as inviting front-line representatives into the project team.  Since some of the project investigations 
involved potentially sensitive labour-management issues, a decision was made not to have front-line members on 
the project team however, in retrospect, there were likely solutions to navigate around those sensitivities. The final 

draft of the project report has been circulated for review and comment from all front-line staff.    

 

  



  

18 

Summary of Recommendations 
 

Service Delivery Model 
 

1. Maintain ‘Hybrid’ model of service delivery 
 

Workload 
 

2. Decrease variance in inspection activity workload between teams 
3. Balance workload at approximately 700 hours of annual inspection activity per inspector 

4. Enhance ability to respond to Infection Prevention and Control complaints 
5. Disinvest 1.0 FTE from Food Safety and Healthy Environments 
6. Invest 0.5 FTE into Infectious Disease Control 
7. Reallocate Low-Risk Extended Day Programs food safety inspections from IDC team to FSHE team 

 

Alignment with Ontario Public Health Standards 
 

8. Update enforcement disclosures website to include mandated reporting fields 
9. Develop health promotional materials in other languages 
10. Enhance program focus on marginalized populations such as those who are homeless/underhoused 
11. Enhance surveillance and identification of the emerging trends related to water safety 

 

Policies and Procedures 
 

12. Complete EHID division policy updates and establish schedule for ongoing review and revision 
 

Information Technology 
 

13. Upgrade ‘Hedgehog’ inspection software and database to most current version 
14. Implement new inspection disclosure website / portal 
15. Investigate software replacement options for Food Handler Training Program database and registration 

 

Optimization of Inspection Zones 
 

16. Create zones which ensure workload balance and minimize travel distances between inspection sites 
17. Align inspection zones of IDC, FSHE and SWRVBD teams to provide better opportunities for collaboration 
18. Continue to monitor inspection zones regularly to ensure workload balance 
19. Disinvest $20,000 in travel expenses related to inspection zone optimization 

 

Quality Assurance / Continuous Quality Improvement 
 

20. Develop routinely monitored key performance indicators 

21. Leverage new management reporting functionality of Hedgehog software 
22. Develop audit process for inspection reports 
23. Ensure each inspector is accompanied in the field by their manager at least once annually 
24. Engage in client satisfaction monitoring in collaboration with the Office of the Chief Nursing Officer 
25. Review and adapt delivery of Environmental Health programs from a health equity lens 

 

Professional Development 

 
26. Align professional development activities with the CIPHI Continuing Professional Competency Program 



  

19 

Appendix A – Environmental Scan 
 

 

 
 

 
 
Comparator Peer Group Total time allocated per inspector per year (limited response): 
 
PHU A: 1000 hrs (includes all external work and travel– committees, working groups, community liaison) 
PHU B: 700 hrs (inspection activities only) 
PHU C: ~750 hrs (inspection activities only)  



  

20 

Appendix B – Workload Analysis 
 

 
 

 

Total FTE – Current State    Current FTE Insp hrs / PHI 

Team Hours      

FSHE 10279  16  642.438  

IDC 4540.13  5.5  825.477  

SWRVBD 4453.75  6  742.292  

 
       

 
Total FTE – Future State 
(w/ Extended Day 
Programs to FSHE)    Future FTE Insp hrs / PHI 

Team Hours     

FSHE 10436.8  15  695.783 

IDC 4382.38  6  730.395 

SWRVBD 4453.75  6  742.291 



MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT – Public Health Inspector (PHI) Review – PRJT 023-2018 

21 

Appendix C – Gap Analysis 
 

Standard Food Safety 
To prevent or reduce the burden of food-borne illnesses.  
 

Outcomes:  
 The board of health is aware of and uses data to influence and inform the development of local healthy 

public policy and its programs and services related to food safety. 
 Board of health programs and services are designed to address the identified needs of the community, 

including priority populations, associated with food safety. 
 Timely and effective detection, identification, and response to food-borne illnesses, their associated 

risk factors, emerging trends, and unsafe food offered for public consumption. 
 Food-borne illness risks are mitigated. 
 Food handlers are educated in food safety to handle and manage food for public consumption in a safe 

and sanitary manner. 
 The public and community partners are aware of safe food-handling practices and food safety issues. 
 The public and community partners have the knowledge and skills needed to handle food in a safe 

manner. 
 There is reduced incidence of food-borne illnesses. 

 
  

Requirement 
Program Activities that Align with 

Standard 
Known Gaps   

 
1. The board of health shall:  

 
a) Conduct surveillance of suspected 
and confirmed food-borne illnesses, 
food premises, and food for public 
consumption;  
 
b) Conduct epidemiological analysis 
of surveillance data including 
monitoring of trends over time, 
emerging trends, and priority 
populations; and 
 
c) Respond by adapting programs 
and services in accordance with the 
Food Safety Protocol, 2018 (or as 
current); the Operational 
Approaches for Food Safety 
Guideline, 2018 (or as current) and 
the Population Health Assessment 
and Surveillance Protocol, 2018 (or 
as current)  
 

 Track all lab-confirmed and 
suspected food borne illnesses 
related to food premises in 
Middlesex-London (EH and IDC).  

 

 Deliver Food Net program with 
PHAC (under the IDC team) for 
local surveillance through 
sampling program and other 
program objectives including case 
interviewing.   

 

 Identification of trends pertaining 
to high risk foods and work to 
address challenges and improve 
food safety.   

 

 Gap – A monitoring and 
evaluation process to annually 
assess and measure the 
effectiveness of food safety 
strategies (Food Safety Protocol, 
2018). 
 

2. The board of health shall ensure 
food handlers in food premises have 
access to training in safe food-
handling practices and principles in 
accordance with the Food Safety 
Protocol, 2018 (or as current) and 
the Operational Approaches for 

 Educate / Train food handlers 
during inspections and consult 
with food premises operators and 
staff. 

 

 Provide food handler training 
courses to specified community 
groups and administer exams to 

 To Enhance – conduct a food 
handler certification program 
review, to update registration / 
payment and other processes 
currently in place (currently using 
older technology).     



  

22 

Food Safety Guideline, 2018 (or as 
current) by:  

 

the general public in accordance 
with the Provincial Food Handler 
Training Plan (Food Safety 
Protocol, 2016). 

 

 Collaborate with the London 
Training Centre (LTC), a partner 
agency to MLHU, through a 
Memorandum of Understanding 
(MOU).  

 
 
 
 

3. The board of health shall increase 
public awareness of food-borne 
illnesses and safe food-handling 
practices and principles in 
accordance with the Food Safety 
Protocol, 2018 (or as current) and 
the Operational Approaches for 
Food Safety Guideline, 2018 (or as 
current) by: 
 
a) Adapting and/or supplementing 
national/provincial food safety 
communications strategies where 
local assessment has identified a 
need; and/or  
 
b) Developing and implementing 
regional/local communications 
strategies where local assessment 
has identified a need.  

 
 

 Provide food safety seminars, 
community presentations and 
attend health fairs to promote 
safe food handling practices. 

 

 Make available food safety and 
healthy environments 
information for the general public 
and facility operators on-line 
www.healthunit.com  

   

 Respond to all media inquiries 
related to inspection results or 
any topics related to Food Safety 
and deliver media releases when 
appropriate. 

 
 

 To Enhance - engaging social media 
more frequently in a proactive 
manner to address emerging trends 
and challenges.   
 

 To Enhance - The board of health 
shall have available food safety 
information and / or educational 
material to raise public awareness 
about food safety practices, 
particularly targeting priority 
populations identified by the board 
of health (Food Safety Protocol, 
2018).  More of a need to provide 
culturally relevant programming.   
 

 

4. The board of health shall provide all 
the components of the Food Safety 
Program in accordance with the 
Food Safety Protocol, 2018 (or as 
current) and the Operational 
Approaches for Food Safety 
Guideline, 2018 (or as current).  This 
requirement covers core 
programming that is not addressed 
through other Food Safety 
Standard requirements (1,2,3 and 
5).   

 

 Maintain a current inventory of 
food premises, and maintain 
communication with partner 
agencies. 

 

 Implement a site-specific risk 
categorization to be conducted 
annually of all food premises. 

 

 Conduct routine inspections of all 
fixed food premises as per 
required frequency. 

 

 Process for monitoring / 
inspecting transient / temporary 
food premises (special events) 

 

 Conduct re-inspections, 
consultations and additional 

 Gap – Publicly disclose a summary 
report (DineSafe) including ‘type of 
premises’ and inspections that are 
‘complaint-based’. 
 

 Gap – Currently, food premises 
identified as lower risk and / or 
premises posing logistical 
difficulties for inspection (school 
nourishment programs) are not 
being inspected / disclosed which is 
a new requirement.  
 

 

http://www.healthunit.com/


  

23 

interventions as necessary to 
achieve regulatory compliance. 

 

 Enforcement / Legal Actions 
 

 Assist new owners, operators or 
renovated food premises prior to 
commencing operation (as a 
resource). 

 

 Monitor all O. Reg. 562 exempted 
facilities (farmer’s markets, 
residential homes, churches / 
service clubs / fraternal 
organizations). 

 

 Publicly disclose a summary 
report on each routine-based 
inspection.   

 
 

5. The board of health shall ensure 
24/7 availability to receive reports 
of and respond to:  
 
a) Suspected and confirmed food-
borne illnesses or outbreaks;  

 
b) Unsafe food-handling practices, 
food recalls, adulteration, and 
consumer complaints; and  
 
c) Food-related issues arising from 
floods, fires, power outages, or 
other situations that may affect 
food safety in accordance with the 
Health Protection and Promotion 
Act; the Food Safety Protocol, 2018 
(or as current); and the Infectious 
Diseases Protocol, 2018 (or as 
current); and the Operational 
Approaches for Food Safety 
Guideline, 2018 (or as current).    
 

 Risk assess, investigate and 
respond to all reports of 
suspected / confirmed foodborne 
illness, unsafe food handling and 
any other food related issues in a 
timely manner (within 24 hours). 

 

 Review food recalls when issued 
and participate in food recall 
verification checks when 
necessary.    

 

 Collaborate (internally and 
externally) when investigating 
foodborne disease outbreaks.  
Conduct outbreak management 
work.   

 
 

 Gap – current database program 
does not allow for good reporting of 
24-hour response, which would be a 
good KPI, to be investigated in new 
database solution.   

  



  

24 

Standard Healthy Environments 
To reduce exposure to health hazards and promote the development of healthy natural 
and built environments that support health and mitigate existing and emerging risks, 
including the impacts of a changing climate.  
 

Outcomes:  
 The board of health is aware of and uses data to influence and inform the 

development of local healthy public policy and its programs and services related to 
reducing exposure to health hazards and promoting healthy built and natural 
environments. 

 Board of health programs and services are designed to address the identified needs 
of the community, including priority populations, associated with health hazards and 
healthy built and natural environments. 

 There is a decrease in health inequities related to exposure to health hazards. 
 Timely and effective detection, identification, and response to health hazards and 

associated public health risks, trends, and illnesses. 
 The public and community partners are aware of the risks of health hazard incidents. 
 The public and community partners are aware of health protection and prevention 

activities related to health hazards and conditions that create healthy built and 
natural environments. 

 Community partners and the public are engaged in the planning, development, 
implementation, and evaluation of strategies to reduce exposure to health hazards 
and promote the creation of healthy natural and built environments. 

 Community partners have the information necessary to create healthy public 
policies related to reducing exposure to health hazards and creating healthy built 
and natural environments. 

 There is reduced public exposure to health hazards. 
 

  

Requirement 
Program Activities that Align 

with the Standard 
Known Gaps  

 
1. The board of health shall: 

 
a) Conduct surveillance of 
environmental factors in the 
community; 
 
b) Conduct epidemiological 
analysis of surveillance data, 
including monitoring of trends 
over time, emerging trends, 
and priority populations; and 
 
c) Use information obtained to 
inform healthy environments 
programs and services 

 
in accordance with the Health 
Hazard Response Protocol, 2018 
(or as current); the Healthy 
Environments and Climate Change 
Guideline, 2018 (or as current); the 
Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2018 
(or as current); and the Population 
Health Assessment and 

 Heat Warnings and Cold 
weather alerts issued to the 
general public.  Number of heat 
warnings and cold weather 
alerts monitored each year. 
 

 Community Health Status 
Resource (this resource 
monitored health hazard 
related indicators including air 
quality and extreme weather 
conditions, but has not been 
maintained over the years). 

 

 Vulnerability Assessment 
(2014) to Effects of Climate 
Change conducted. 

 

 Maintain Cooling Tower 
Registration program for 
inventory and surveillance. 

 

 Collaboration with community 
partners who conduct 
environmental surveillance and 

 Gap - Vulnerability Planning to 
build on the work from the 
Vulnerability Assessment, 2014.   
Work required to develop 
programming geared towards 
vulnerable residents in 
Middlesex-London (utilizing 
local data). 
 
 
 



  

25 

Surveillance Protocol, 2018 (or as 
current). 

research (MOEPR, city of 
London, Middlesex County, 
ICES) 
 

2. The board of health shall 
identify risk factors and 
priority health needs in the 
built and natural 
environments.  

 

 Liaise with other agencies to 
identify most significant 
environmental hazards, and 
respond accordingly to 
incidents at the local level. 
 

 Provide input and opinion, 
upon request, to municipal 
partners as it relates to 
potential health hazards, and 
advocate for healthy 
environments. 
 

 GAP – Need to better identify 
local risk factors (surveillance) 
and develop programming to 
address the health needs of the 
community.   
 

 GAP – Identification of Priority 
Populations for varying 
environmental hazards. 

3. The board of health shall 
assess health impacts related 
to climate change in 
accordance with the Healthy 
Environments and Climate 
Change Guideline, 2018 (or as 
current) 
 

 Vulnerability Assessment 
(2014) to Effects of Climate 
Change conducted. 
 

 GAP – Need to begin to 
monitor the impacts of climate 
change within Middlesex-
London to inform vulnerability 
planning. 

4. The board of health shall 
engage in community and 
multi-sectoral collaboration 
with municipal and other 
relevant partners to promote 
healthy built and natural 
environments in accordance 
with the Healthy Environments 
and Climate Change Guideline, 
2018 (or as current). 
 

 Participate in city of London 
advisory committee meetings 
(Trees and Forest Advisory 
Committee, Advisory 
Committee for the 
Environment) representing 
MLHU. 

 

 Meet ad-hoc with partner 
agencies to address potential 
hazards as they arise, and to 
provide public health opinions. 
 

  

5. The board of health shall 
collaborate with community 
partners to develop effective 
strategies to reduce exposure 
to health hazards and promote 
healthy built and natural 
environments in accordance 
with the Health Hazard 
Response Protocol, 2018 (or as 
current) and the Healthy 
Environments and Climate 
Change Guideline, 2018 (or as 
current).  

 

 Provide input into city policy 
(London Plan). 

 

 Collaborate with academia / 
community stakeholders to 
obtain local surveillance data 
to build upon program delivery 
(i.e. heat related illnesses in 
south west – ICES) 

 

  

6. The board of health shall 
implement a program of public 
health interventions to reduce 
exposure to health hazards 

   Gap – Not currently engaged in 
this work to a large degree.   
 

 



  

26 

and promote healthy built and 
natural environments. 
 

7. The board of health shall, as 
part of its strategy to reduce 
exposure to health hazards and 
promote healthy natural and 
built environments, effectively 
communicate with the public 
by:  
 
a) Adapting and/or 
supplementing 
national/provincial health 
communications strategies 
where local assessment has 
identified a need;  
 
b) Developing and 
implementing regional/local 
communications strategies 
where local assessment has 
identified a need; and  
 
c) Addressing the following 
topics based on an assessment 
of local needs:  

 
- Built environment;  
- Climate change;  
- Exposure to chemical 
contamination;  
- Exposure to hazardous 
environmental contaminants and 
biological agents;  
- Exposure to radiation;  
- Extreme weather; 
- Indoor air pollutants;  
- Outdoor air pollutants; and  
- Other measures as emerging 
health issues arise.  

 

 Collaborate with community 
partners on Climate Change 
adaptation strategies. 
 

 Communicate risks to public 
with respect to environmental 
hazards (air quality, radon 
exposure, fine particulate etc.) 
through liaison with partner 
agencies (City of London, MOL 
and MOECC), as well as new 
exposures as they become 
apparent (TCE in ground 
water). 

 

 Initiate Heat Warnings under 
the Heat Warning Information 
System (HWIS), and Cold 
Weather Alerts and work to 
develop an effective response 
with community engagement. 

 

 Provide community 
presentations related to 
potential health hazards, many 
related to ‘healthy and safe 
housing’ – mould, pests (bed 
bugs), air quality etc.  
 

 

 Gap - Much attention currently 
focuses on health hazard 
investigation as opposed to 
additional work identified 
through the new Healthy 
Environments Standard.  More 
focus is required on improving 
health outcomes through built 
and natural environments 
(proactive work). 

 

8. The board of health shall 
assess and inspect facilities 
where there is an elevated risk 
of illness associated with 
exposures that are known or 
suspected to be associated 
with health hazards in 
accordance with the Health 
Hazard Response Protocol, 
2018.  

 

 Approve homes for 
habitation, which were 
previously used as Marijuana 
Grow Operations (MGO), 
based on air quality reports 
from Industrial Hygienists, 
for rescinding of city of 
London orders. 

 

 Inspect and help provide 
supports to Special Risk 
Residents (Squalor, 
Hoarding) and Vulnerable 
Occupancies. 

  



  

27 

 

 Inspect facilities including 
Seasonal Farm Worker 
Homes, Recreational Camps 
and Group Homes / lodging 
homes. 

 

9. The board of health shall 
investigate potential health 
hazards and respond by 
preventing or reducing 
exposure to health hazards in 
accordance with the Health 
Hazard Response Protocol, 
2018 (or as current). 

 Conduct risk assessment and 
respond to all reports of 
potential, suspected or 
identified health hazards in 
Middlesex-London. 

 

 Respond to notifications 
through the Vulnerable 
Occupancy Protocol (VOP) 
related to unhealthy and 
unsafe living conditions in 
homes considered to be 
vulnerable occupancies. 

 
 

 

10. The board of health shall 
ensure 24/7 availability to 
receive reports of and respond 
to health hazards in 
accordance with the Health 
Protection and Promotion Act 
and the Healthy Environments 
Protocol, 2018.  

 

 Investigate, assess the risks 
and respond to all Health 
Hazards reported in a timely 
manner (within 24 hours) 
based on a risk assessment 
and have a PHI coverage 
over evening shifts and 
weekend on-call. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



  

28 

Standard Infectious and Communicable Diseases Prevention and 
Control 
To reduce the burden of communicable diseases and other infectious diseases of public 
health importance.  
 

Outcomes:  Timely and effective detection, identification, and management of exposures and local 
cases/outbreaks of infectious and communicable diseases of public health importance, 
including reportable diseases, their associated risk factors and emerging trends.  

 The public, health care providers, and other relevant partners, including emergency 
service workers are aware of the epidemiology associated risk and protective factors, and 
practices related to the prevention and control of infectious and communicable diseases 
of public health importance.  

 Effective partnerships support actions to prevent and control the spread of infectious and 
communicable diseases of public health importance.  

 Effective case management results in limited secondary cases.  
 Priority populations have access to harm reduction services and supports necessary to 

adopt healthy behaviours and practices that prevent exposure to and the transmission of 
sexually transmitted infections and blood-borne infections.  

 There is reduced transmission of infections and communicable diseases including reduced 
progression of tuberculosis (TB).  

 The public, community partners, and health care providers report all suspected rabies 
exposures.  

 Public health risks associated with infection prevention and control lapses are managed 
and mitigated effectively and efficiently.  

 Settings that are required to be inspected are aware of and use infection prevention and 
control practices.  
 

  

Requirement 
Program Activities that Align 

with the Standard 
Known Gaps  

1. The board of health shall 
conduct population health 
assessment and surveillance 
regarding infectious and 
communicable diseases and 
their determinants. These 
efforts shall include:  
 

a) Reporting data elements in 
accordance with the Health 
Protection and Promotion 
Act; the Infectious Diseases 
Protocol, 2016 (or as 
current) the Sexual Health 
and Sexually Transmitted 
Infections Prevention and 
Control Protocol, 2013 (or 
as current); the Rabies 
Prevention and Control 
Protocol, 2013 (or as 
current); and the 
Tuberculosis Prevention and 
Control Protocol, 2008 (or 
as current);  
 

 Yearly review of the trends 
and emerging trends 
conducted  

 

 Annual reports are sent to the 
MOHLTC  
 
 

 Maintain data elements 
using Infectious Disease 
Database/Hedgehog 
Inspection System and 
Integrated Public Health 
System (iPHIS) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  

29 

b) Conducting surveillance and 
epidemiological analysis, 
including the monitoring of 
trends over time, emerging 
trends, and priority 
populations in accordance 
with the Infectious Diseases 
Protocol, 2016 (or as 
current); the Sexual Health 
and Sexually Transmitted 
Infections Prevention and 
Control Protocol, 2013 (or 
as current); the Rabies 
Prevention and Control 
Protocol, 2013 (or as 
current); the Tuberculosis 
Prevention and Control 
Protocol, 2008(or as 
current); and the 
Population Health 
Assessment and 
Surveillance Protocol, 2016 
(or as current);  
 

c) Responding to 
international, Federal, 
Provincial/Territorial and 
local changes in diseases 
epidemiology by adapting 
programs and services; and  
 

d) Using the information 
obtained through 
assessment and surveillance 
to inform program 
development regarding 
communicable diseases and 
other infectious diseases of 
public health importance.  

 

 Currently have an 
epidemiologist who monitors 
and conducts surveillance on 
diseases of public health 
significance; daily and 
monthly surveillance reports 
are produced and distributed 
internally and externally. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Monitor changing 
international/federal/provinc
ial and Territorial and local 
changes in diseases  

 
 
 

 Program development and 
planning based on 
assessment and surveillance  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Gap - Program and service 
changes only based on local 
needs/changes in disease 
epidemiology 

 
 
 

 Gap - This is very reactive 
and not proactive due to lack 
of capacity. 

 

2. The board of health shall 
provide public education to 
increase awareness related to 
infection prevention and 
control measures, including 
respiratory etiquette, and hand 
hygiene. These efforts shall 
include:  
 

a) Adapting and/or 
supplementing 
national/provincial health 
education/communications 
strategies where local 
assessment has identified a 
need; and/or  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Have adapted some 
materials from other 
communities e.g. Hep A 
and use materials on 
Public Health Ontario 
website to distribute to 
the public 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Gap - Minimal time 
available to 
request/search for 
materials from other 
communities  

 
 



  

30 

 
b) Developing and 

implementing regional/local 
communications strategies 
where local assessment has 
identified a need.  

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 Gap - Lack of capacity and 
budget to proactively 
develop and implement 
local communication 
materials 

 Gap - Materials developed 
are reactive to an existing 
local issue. 

3. The board of health shall work 
with community partners and 
service providers to determine 
and address the need for 
knowledge translation 
resources and supports in the 
area of infection prevention 
and control. These efforts shall 
include:  
a) Adapting and/or 

supplementing 
national/provincial health 
education/communication
s strategies where local 
assessment has identified 
a need; and/or  
 

b) Developing and 
implementing 
regional/local 
communications 
strategies where local 
assessment has identified 
a need.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Some adaptation from 
other communities e.g. 
Personal Service Settings 
educational materials 

 
 
 
 
 

 Minimal development and 
implementation of 
communication strategies  

 Those developed are on a 
reactive basis 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Gap - New educational 
materials need to be 
adapted/ developed due 
to the revision/changes to 
the MOHLTC protocols. 

 
 
 
 

 Gap - Implementation of a 
community partner 
education needs 
assessment to 
inform/develop an 
education plan. 

 Gap - Need for 
development and 
implementation of 
proactive communication 
strategies 

4. The board of health shall use 
health promotion approaches 
to increase adoption of healthy 
behaviours among the 
population regarding sexual 
practices and injection drug use 
to prevent and reduce 
exposures to sexually 
transmitted and blood-borne 
infections by collaborating with 
and engaging health care 
providers, community and 
other relevant partners, and 
priority populations.  
 

N/A  

5. The board of health shall 
collaborate with health care 
providers and community 

 IDC supports health care 
providers through the e-

 Gap - Minimal proactive 
work with community 
partners e.g. HCP or 



  

31 

partners, including school 
boards, to create supportive 
environments to promote 
healthy sexual practices and 
access to sexual health services 
and harm reduction programs 
and services for priority 
populations. 
  

newsletter and telephone 
consultation 

 IDC supports school 
boards on as 
need/request basis- 
provide web resources 
and letters 

school boards regarding 
infectious disease 
prevention. 

6. The board of health shall 
participate on committees, 
advisory bodies, or networks 
that address infection 
prevention and control 
practices and policies of, but 
not limited to, hospitals and 
long-term care homes in 
accordance with the 
Institutional/Facility Outbreak 
Prevention and Control 
Protocol, 2016 (or as current).  
 

 Staff and Manager sit on 
Infection Prevention and 
Control committees in 
Long Term Care Homes 
and hospitals  

 Annually electronic 
materials sent to all long- 
term care homes re 
Outbreak Prevention and 
Control. 

 Have a staff person 
assigned to each long-
term care home in 
Middlesex and London for 
consultation. 

 Gap - Only attend those 
that invite IDC. 

 Gap - Minimal proactive 
communication with those 
facilities that do not reach 
out to IDC.  

7. The board of health shall work 
with appropriate partners to 
increase awareness among 
relevant community partners, 
including correctional facilities, 
health care, and other service 
providers, of:  
 
a) The local epidemiology of 

communicable diseases 
and other infectious 
diseases of public health 
importance;  
 

b) Infection prevention and 
control practices; and  

 
c) Reporting requirements 

for reportable diseases, as 
specified in the Health 
Protection and Promotion 
Act 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Daily Outbreak report 
distributed 

 Electronic outbreak 
material sent to Long term 
care homes   

 Notification of Health Care 
Providers in e-newsletter 
regarding reporting 
requirements for 
reportable diseases; 
fillable form added to 
website for HCP to use 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Gap - Minimal contact 
with correctional facilities 
– only upon request or 
investigating a suspect 
and/or confirmed disease 
of public health 
significance. 

 Gap - Minimal education 
of staff in that work with 
under housed individuals 
e.g. shelters to increase 
awareness of infection 
control practices. 

8. The board of health shall 
provide public health 
management of cases, contacts 
and outbreaks to minimize the 
public health risk in accordance 
with the Infectious Diseases 
Protocol, 2016 (or as current); 
the Institutional/Facility 
Outbreak Prevention and 

 Rabies investigations are 
conducted in accordance with 
the Rabies Prevention and 
Control Protocol  

 



  

32 

Control Protocol, 2016 (or as 
current); the Tuberculosis 
Prevention and Control 
Protocol, 2008 (or as current); 
the Sexual Health and Sexually 
Transmitted Infections 
Prevention and Control 
Protocol, 2013(or as current); 
and the Rabies Prevention and 
Control Protocol, 2013 (or as 
current).  
 

9. The board of health shall 
receive reports of complaints 
regarding infection prevention 
and control practices and 
respond to and/or refer to 
appropriate regulatory bodies, 
including regulatory colleges, in 
accordance with applicable 
provincial legislation and in 
accordance with the Infection 
Prevention and Control 
Practices Complaint Protocol, 
2015 (or as current).  
 

 IPAC complaints can 
be reported by phone 
or website 24/7 

 Regulatory colleges 
are notified as 
applicable in 
accordance with 
provincial legislation. 

 

10. The board of health shall 
receive and evaluate reports of 
complaints regarding infection 
prevention and control 
practices in settings for which 
no regulatory bodies or 
regulatory colleges exist, 
particularly personal services 
settings. This shall be done in 
accordance with the Infection 
Prevention and Control in 
Personal Services Settings 
Protocol, 2016 (or as current) 
and the Infection Prevention 
and Control Practices 
Complaint Protocol, 2015 (or as 
current).  
 

 Personal Service 
Settings are inspected 
annually in accordance 
with the Infection 
Prevention and 
Control in Personal 
Service Settings 
Protocol 

 

11. The board of health shall 
communicate, in a timely and 
comprehensive manner, with 
all relevant health care 
providers and other partners 
about urgent and emerging 
infectious diseases issues.  
 

 Health Care Providers 
are notified of  urgent 
and emerging 
infectious disease 
issues in a timely and 
comprehensive 
manner – electronic 
alert is distributed. 

 

12. The board of health shall, 
based on local epidemiology, 
supplement provincial efforts in 
managing risk communications 

 Collaborate and 
coordinate with 
provincial efforts in 
managing risk 

 



  

33 

to appropriate stakeholders on 
identified risks associated with 
infectious diseases and 
emerging diseases of public 
health importance.  
 

communication 
associated with 
infectious diseases  

 Provide local statistical 
data as requested. 

13. The board of health shall 
collaborate with health care 
providers and other relevant 
partners to ensure access to, or 
provide, based on local 
assessment, clinical services for 
priority populations to promote 
and support healthy sexual 
practices, contraception, 
pregnancy counselling, and the 
prevention and/or 
management of sexually 
transmitted infections and 
blood-borne infections.  
 

N/A  

14. The board of health shall 
collaborate with health care 
providers and other relevant 
community partners to achieve 
a comprehensive and 
consistent approach, based on 
local assessment and risk 
surveillance, to address and 
manage sexually transmitted 
infections and blood-borne 
infections in accordance with 
the Sexual Health and Sexually 
Transmitted Infections 
Prevention and Control 
Protocol, 2013 (or as current).  

 

N/A  

15. The board of health shall 
receive and respond to all 
reported cases of suspected 
rabies exposures received from 
the public, community partners 
and health care providers in 
accordance with the Health 
Protection and Promotion Act 
and the Rabies Prevention and 
Control Protocol, 2013 (or as 
current). 
 

 Investigate human exposures 
to animals suspected of 
having rabies.  

 

 

16. The board of health shall 
address the prevention and 
control of rabies threats as per 
a local Rabies Contingency Plan 
and in consultation with other 
relevant agencies and orders of 
government, in accordance 

 Rabies Contingency Plan has 
been prepared in the light of 
the recent Hamilton Raccoon 
Rabies outbreak.  

 



  

34 

with the Rabies Prevention and 
Control Protocol, 2013 (or as 
current).  
 

17. The board of health shall 
develop a local vector-borne 
management strategy based on 
surveillance data and emerging 
trends in accordance with the 
Infectious Diseases Protocol, 
2016 (or as current). 
  

 Evidence-informed local vector-
borne management strategy 
has been developed and 
applied to plan the program 
each year based on the 
previous season’s surveillance 
data. 

 Human surveillance monitored 
annually. 

 

18. The board of health shall 
inspect settings associated with 
risk of infectious diseases of 
public health importance in 
accordance with the Infection 
Prevention and Control in Child 
Care Centres Protocol, 2016(or 
as current); the Infection 
Prevention and Control in 
Personal Services Settings 
Protocol, 2016 (or as current); 
and the Healthy Environments 
Protocol, 2017(to be drafted). 
 

 Inspect child care 
centres, personal 
service settings for 
infection control 
practices in 
accordance with 
specific facility related 
protocol. 

 Gap - No capacity to 
provide annual child 
care in-service  

 Gap - Education to 
Personal Service 
settings provided at 
time of inspection or 
re inspection only.  

 Gap - No public 
campaign on 
importance of 
infection control in 
child care and PSS. 

19. The board of health shall 
ensure 24/7 availability to 
receive reports of and respond 
to:  
a) Infectious diseases of 

public health importance 
in accordance with the 
Health Protection and 
Promotion Act; the 
Mandatory Blood Testing 
Act, 2006; the Infectious 
Diseases Protocol, 2016 
(or as current); and the 
Institutional/Facility 
Outbreak Prevention and 
Control Protocol, 2016(or 
as current); and  

b) Suspected rabies 
exposures in accordance 
with the Health Protection 
and Promotion Act and 
the Rabies Prevention and 
Control Protocol, 2013 (or 
as current). 
 

 24/7 availability to investigate 
suspected rabies exposures  

 24/7 availability for all 
infectious diseases of public 
health importance. 

 

 

  



  

35 

Standard Safe Water 
To prevent or reduce the burden of water-borne illnesses related to drinking water.  
To prevent or reduce the burden of water-borne illnesses and injuries related to recreational 
water use.  
 

Outcomes:  Timely and effective detection, identification, and response to water contaminants and 
illnesses, their associated risk factors, and emerging trends, including levels of fluoride 
outside the recommended range.  

 Water-borne illness risks are mitigated.  
 Members of the public who use private wells, cisterns, and rain or lake water are aware 

of how to safely manage their own drinking-water systems.  
 The public is aware of drinking water safety.  
 Owners/operators of recreational water facilities and owners/operators of small drinking-

water systems operate in a safe and sanitary manner.  
 The public is aware of potential risk of illnesses and injuries related to public beach use.  
 Public exposure to recreational water-related illnesses and hazards is reduced.  

 
  

Requirement 
Program Activities that Align 

with the Standard 
Known Gaps  

1. The board of health shall report 
Safe Water Program data 
elements in accordance with 
the Drinking Water Protocol, 
2014 (or as current) and the 
Recreational Water Protocol, 
2016 (or as current).  
 

 Maintain inventory of 
drinking water systems and 
recreational water facilities 
maintained. 

 

 
 

 

 

2. The board of health shall:  
 

a) Conduct surveillance of:  

 Drinking water 
sources and systems 
and of drinking 
water illnesses of 
public health 
importance, their 
associated risk 
factors, and 
emerging trends;  

 Public beaches and 
public beach water-
borne illnesses of 
public health 
importance, their 
associated risk 
factors, and 
emerging trends; and  

 Recreational water 
facilities;  
 

b) Conduct epidemiological 
analysis of surveillance 
data, including monitoring 
of trends over time, 

 Inspect recreational water 
facilities, assessments of 
Small Drinking Water 
Systems and annual 
environmental assessments 
of public beaches are 
conducted.  

Gap - more time should be spent to 
conduct surveillance and identify 
the emerging trends related to 
water safety. 



  

36 

emerging trends, and 
priority populations; and  
 

c) Use the information 
obtained to inform Safe 
Water programs and 
services  
in accordance with the 
Drinking Water Protocol, 
2014(or as current); the 
Infectious Diseases 
Protocol, 2016 (or as 
current); the Recreational 
Water Protocol, 2016 (or 
as current); and the 
Population Health 
Assessment and 
Surveillance Protocol, 
2016 (or as current). 

 

3. The board of health shall 
provide information to private 
citizens who operate their own 
wells, cisterns, and rain or lake 
water systems to promote 
awareness of how to safely 
manage their own drinking-
water systems. 
 

 Conduct a comprehensive 
Private Well Water Program 
which includes providing 
information to private citizens 
who own their water supply, 
has been established since 
2014.  
 

 Enhanced private well water 
program service: Multiple 
water sample drop off sites. 
Offering site visits to residents 
who need more guidance. 

 

 

4. The board of health shall 
ensure the provision of 
education and training for 
owners/operators of drinking-
water systems in accordance 
with the Drinking Water 
Protocol, 2014(or as current).  
 

 Pool and spa operator training 
program is offered, Training 
opportunities for Small 
Drinking Water System 
owner/operators have been 
provided.  

 

5. The board of health shall 
increase public awareness of 
water-borne illnesses and safe 
drinking water by working with 
community partners and by:  
 
a) Adapting and/or 

supplementing 
national/provincial safe 
drinking water 
communications 
strategies where local 
assessment has identified 
a need; and/or  

 Awareness activities are 
planned and organized through 
the year. 

Gap - Communication strategies 
should be developed by analyzing 
the local data. Increased local 
collaborations is needed.  



  

37 

 
b) Developing and 

implementing 
regional/local 
communications 
strategies where local 
assessment has identified 
a need.  

 

6. The board of health shall 
ensure the provision of 
education and training for 
owner/operators of 
recreational water facilities in 
accordance with the 
Recreational Water Protocol, 
2016(or as current).  
 

 Training sessions are 
organized for the 
owners/operators of 
recreational water facilities  

 

7. The board of health shall 
provide all the components of 
the Safe Water Program in 
accordance with all applicable 
statutes and regulations, and 
the Drinking Water Protocol, 
2014 (or as current) to protect 
the public from exposure to 
unsafe drinking water.  
 

 All the components of the 
Safe Water Program are 
maintained to protect the 
public from exposure to 
unsafe drinking water.   

 

8. The board of health shall 
inform the public about unsafe 
drinking water conditions and 
provide the necessary 
information to respond 
appropriately in accordance 
with the Drinking Water 
Protocol, 2014 (or as current).  
 

 Respond to Adverse Water 
Quality Incidents in municipal 
systems. 
 

 Issue Drinking/Boil Water 
Advisories as needed. 

  

9. The board of health shall 
reduce risks of public beach 
and recreational water facilities 
use in accordance with the 
Recreational Water Protocol, 
2016 (or as current).  
 

 Inspect public pools (Class A 
and Class B).  
 

 Inspect public spas.  
 

 Inspect non-regulated 
recreational water facilities 
(wading pools and splash 
pads).  

 

 Offer education sessions for 
public pool and spa 
operators.  

 

 Investigate complaints 
related to recreational water 
facilities.  

 

 



  

38 

 

 
10. The board of health shall 

review drinking water quality 
reports for its municipal 
drinking water supply(ies) 
where fluoride is added. These 
reports shall be reviewed at 
least monthly and, where 
necessary, action shall be taken 
in accordance with the Protocol 
for the Monitoring of 
Community Water Fluoride 
Levels, 2014 (or as current).  
 

 The MLHU Dental Consultant 
reviews the water quality 
drinking water report each 
month with the daily 
measurements in accordance 
with the Protocol for the 
Monitoring of Community 
Water Fluoride Levels, 2014 

 

11. The board of health shall 
ensure 24/7 availability to 
receive reports of and respond 
to:  
 
a) Adverse events related to 

safe water, such as 
reports of adverse 
drinking water of drinking 
water systems, governed 
under the Health 
Protection and Promotion 
Act or the Safe Drinking 
Water Act, 2002;  
 

b) Reports of water-borne 
illnesses or outbreaks; 

  
c) Safe water issues arising 

from floods, fires, power 
outages, or other 
situations that may affect 
water safety; and  

 
d) Safe water issues relating 

to recreational water use 
including public beaches 
in accordance with the 
Health Protection and 
Promotion Act; the 
Drinking Water Protocol, 
2014 (or as current); the 
Infectious Diseases 
Protocol, 2016 (or as 
current); and the 
Recreational Water 
Protocol, 2016 (or as 
current).  

 Respond to Adverse Water 
Quality Incidents in SDWS 
 

 Respond to Adverse Water 
Quality Incidents in Municipal 
Water systems   

 

 Respond to complaints 
regarding drinking or 
recreational water quality 

 

 Respond to water-borne 
illnesses and outbreaks.  
 

 
 
 
 

  
 

 



                MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT 

 

                                    REPORT NO. 053-19 

 

 

TO:  Chair and Members of the Board of Health 

 

FROM: Christopher Mackie, Medical Officer of Health / CEO 

 

DATE:  2019 September 19 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

PUBLIC HEALTH INSPECTOR ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS – Q2 2019 
 
Recommendation 

 
It is recommended that the Board of Health receive Report No. 053-19 re: “Public Health Inspector 

Enforcement Actions” for information. 
 

 

Key Points 

 Public Health Inspectors (PHIs) on the Food Safety and Healthy Environments (FS&HE) team, the Safe 

Water, Rabies and Vector-Borne Disease (SWRVBD) team, and the Infectious Disease Control (IDC) 

team conduct inspections at a variety of facilities in the City of London and Middlesex County. 

Operators of facilities are required to achieve regulatory compliance 

 Enforcement actions, such as the issuance of Provincial Offence Notices and Closure Orders, may be 

taken when other public health interventions have proven ineffective in achieving regulatory 

compliance. 

 

Background 
 
In April, the Environmental Health and Infectious Disease Division provided its first report to the Board of 

Health detailing public health inspection and enforcement activities for the first quarter of 2019.  This report 

provides a summary of these inspection and enforcement activities for the second quarter of this year.  

 
Reported Actions 
 

Reported Action Inspection 

Type 

Total 

Inspections 

Non-Critical 

Infractions Resolved 

Critical Infraction 

Resolved 

Enforcement 

Actions 

Child Care 21 10 0 0 

Food Institutional & Other 88 24 19 0 

Food Safety 1202 911 500 3 

Infection Control 1 1 0 0 

Personal Service Setting 187 17 53 1 

Recreational Water 242 252 19 5 

Drinking Water 10 0 0 0 

 
Near real-time data for all inspections can be publicly accessed at:  

 

https://inspections.healthunit.com/Portal/Enforcements. 
 

 

 

  

https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-04-18-report-027-19.pdf
https://inspections.healthunit.com/Portal/Enforcements


2019 September 19 -  2 - Report No. 053-19 

 

  

 

Examples of premises associated with the different inspection categories are provided here: 

 

Child Care – Child care facility inspections (does not include any related food safety inspections).   

Food Institutional & Other – non-DineSafe Institutional food premises (hospitals, long term care homes, 

child care food prep, etc.) and some very low risk, non-DineSafe food premises. 

Food Safety – all food premises included in DineSafe program (restaurants, take-out, grocery stores etc.). 

Infection Control – Funeral Homes.  

Personal Service Setting – nail & hair salons, tattoo parlors, estheticians, etc.  

Recreational Water – pools, spas and beaches. 

Drinking Water – small drinking water distribution systems. 

 

Observations 
 
Inspectors inspected 1600 separate premises with 151 follow-up inspections across Middlesex and London 

in Q2 versus 1053 in Q1.  This difference is accounted for by the seasonality of premises such as pools and 

some restaurants, as well as the different inspection frequencies assigned to low, moderate, and high-risk 

premises.  Overall, the number of enforcement actions taken by Public Health Inspectors (PHIs) is consistent 

across both Q1 & Q2 (10 and 9, respectively) as was the rate of reinspection (8.8% in both quarters). This is 

within the expected levels and indicates good compliance with standards by operators of premises within the 

region. 

 

Amongst inspected food premises, there was 99.3% substantial compliance with the standards in Q2 

resulting in the issuance of 1188 ‘Green’ Dine Safe placards to those establishments. Only 4 premises 

received a ‘Yellow’ placard and 3 premises received a ‘red’ placard resulting in a total of 3 Closure Orders 

which were resolved after re-inspection.  

 

In the Personal Service Settings, the enforcement action related to a Section 13 Order under the Health 

Protection and Promotion Act to the operator to cease a practice which the operator was not qualified to 

perform. In the Recreational Water settings, the noted enforcement actions related to orders to close the pool 

as the issues identified could not be rectified at time of inspection and posed a safety risk to patrons.  This 

usually includes issues such as improper chemical balances or water clarity and is often resolved at 

reinspection.  

 
Next Steps 
 

Staff have followed up on all enforcement actions in Q2 to ensure no ongoing violations. Enforcement 

actions shall continue to be taken when interventions aimed at assisting compliance and educating operators 

have proven ineffective, and when operators have demonstrated an unwillingness to change unsafe 

behaviours. Additionally, actions may be taken to eliminate health hazards through the issuance of Closure 

Orders. PHIs work with operators to create safe and healthy environments. It is the goal of MLHU to 

establish good working relationships with operators and to achieve the common desire of having a safe and 

healthy environment. 

 

This report was prepared by Environmental Health and Infectious Disease Division. 

 
Christopher Mackie, MD, MHSc, CCFP, FRCPC 

Medical Officer of Health / CEO 

 



                MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT 

 

                                    REPORT NO. 054-19 

 

 

TO:  Chair and Members of the Board of Health 

 

FROM: Christopher Mackie, Medical Officer of Health/ CEO 

 

DATE:  2019 September 19 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

UNIFIED COMMUNICATIONS – CONTRACT AWARD AND IMPLEMENTATION 
 

Recommendation 
It is recommended that the Board of Health: 

 

1) Receive Report No. 054-19 for information;  

2) Approve a contractual agreement with Telecom Metric for the provision of a phone system; and 

3) Approve additional costs related to the implementation of a Unified Communication System  

 

Key Points  
 

 MLHU staff examined options for the provision of competitively priced phone system with a goal to 

increase productivity and decrease long term capital expenditure.  

 Eleven responses were received to the Request for Proposals (RFP) published to Biddingo. 

 The contract term is five years commencing November 2019 and the contract value will be $242,084. 

 Additional annual recurring costs of $19,383 and a one-time cost of $33,213 are required to achieve unified 

communications across the organization  

 
Background  
 

The phone system is currently comprised of an on-premise PBX system with annual recurring costs of 

$43,541.  The Strathroy, King St. and Queens Ave locations all house a controller for redundancy purposes 

and require software assurance and maintenance.  These controllers have a hardware and software portion, 

both of which require updating and upgrading on a periodic basis.  These controllers manage all telecom 

communications within the organization, connecting extensions directly to people in physical office 

locations.  The cost to maintain an on-premise PBX is capital intensive, requiring ongoing maintenance. 

 

2019 Request for Proposal  

 

A Request for Proposal (RFP) was issued June 17, 2019 for the provision of a flexible phone system which 

could be used in both the current and future locations. The phone system change was driven by a need to 

increase network bandwidth. Each computer is connected to the network through a desk phone. These 

phones bottleneck internet connectivity to a maximum 100mb/s in a network that is capable of speeds of up 

to 1000mb/s. Improved software enhancements through the adoption of Electronic Client Records, Policy 

Management Software and a new Human Resource Information System require increased bandwidth. 

 

Provisions were also requested for scalability across the region. Key characteristics of the new phone system 

included call centre functionality to improve call flows and the creation of call centre dashboards. These 

dashboards will measure call volume, length of call, wait times, dropped calls, calls to voicemail, call 

frequency, call centre agent activity, as well as transfer rates. 

 

Mobility was another important factor to consider in a new phone system. This would provide staff the 

opportunity to answer calls to their extensions on their mobile devices or computers as a greater number of 

  



2019 September 19 - 2 - Report No. 054-19 

 

  

staff participate in Activity Based Workstations and Alternate Work Arrangements which reduces the 

amount of time spent in the office. The opportunity to answer calls in the community will increase the 

opportunity to respond to client requests in a timelier manner. 

Evaluation 

 

Vendor proposals were reviewed by a cross-functional team consisting of program managers, project 

managers, Information Technology and Procurement staff. A total of 11 proposals were received at the end 

of bid closing on July 26th. The proposals were evaluated for experience, methodologies and approaches, 

costs, reporting and delivery. On August 22nd and 23rd, three vendors were invited to provide a 

demonstration based on their collective scoring and their alignment with the budget. 

 

Pricing varied for the five-year term which included both one-time and annual costs. Proposed pricing 

ranged from a high of $936,528 to a low of $121,551.28. Meanwhile, the budget for this project included 

$50,000 in on-time fees and a recurring cost of $44,000. This provided a total 5-year budget of $270,000. 

The winning TMI proposal provided a 5-year cost of $242,083.   

 

Based on the technical attributes of their proposal and the strength of their demonstration, reference checks 

were completed for Telecom Metric Inc. (TMI). They are a voice communication company focused on 

cybersecurity and proposed a mixture of a cloud based and on-premise Voice over IP solution. TMI 

specializes in secure voice communication and offers end-to-end voice protection, flexibility, scalability and 

long-term value. Their solution included an open platform PBX called 3CX which can be integrated into 

Office 365. They also deliver a unified communication system that allows users to communicate and 

collaborate all on one platform. This includes video conferencing at the click of a button. 

 

Additional Costs 

 

While the winning proposal was less than the anticipated budget, other cost must also be considered. This 

includes upgrading voice only cellular phones to include data capabilities which will allow the cloud based 

3CX system to function when MLHU staff members are not in the office. The incremental costs of data will 

be $19,383 annually. In addition, the replacement of traditional desk phones with a software-based system 

that will reside on computers or cellular phones will require additional expenditure on headsets for improved 

ergonomics. The one-time cost of this investment is approximately $33,213.  Furthermore, the addition of 

these two costs will exceed the total expenditure from $242,083 to $372,211. (See Appendix A) These 

additional costs will be funded through variance. 

 

Conclusion 

 

As a result of the proposal process undertaken, it is recommended that the contract be awarded to Telecom 

Metric for the supply of Phone Systems for the period of five years.  Furthermore, it is also recommended 

that MLHU staff proceed with the additional costs associated with data plans and head sets. The proposed 

costs represent an annual increase of $20,443 per year for the next five-years. 

  

This report was prepared by Procurement & Operations Team, Healthy Organization Division. 

 

 
 

Christopher Mackie, MD, MHSc, CCFP, FRCPC 

Medical Officer of Health 

 

https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-09-19-report-054-19-appendix-a.pdf


APPENDIX A – Cost Summary 

Cost Category  5 Years Annual 

Proposal Costs  $242,084 $48,417 

Additional Costs – 
Data Plans $96,914 $19,383 

Additional Costs – 
Headsets  $33,213 $6,643 

Total Costs $372,211 $74,443 

Budget Costs $270,000 $54,000 

Difference $102,211 $20,443 
 



Key Points 

 Health Unit staff contributed to the development of a public health multi-agency submission providing input 

to Health Canada’s consultation on the potential market for cannabis health products that would not require 

practitioner oversight. 

 

 Leadership and oversight of the tykeTALK, Infant Hearing and Blind Low Vision Programmes was 

successfully transitioned to Thames Valley Children’s Centre (TVCC) as of September 3, 2019 

                MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT 

 

                                    REPORT NO. 055-19 

 

 

TO:  Chair and Members of the Board of Health 

 

FROM: Christopher Mackie, Medical Officer of Health / CEO  

 

DATE:  2019 September 19 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

SUMMARY INFORMATION REPORT – SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

Recommendation 
 

It is recommended that Report No055-19 re: “Summary Information Report for September 2019” be 

received for information. 

 

 

 
 
    
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
Health Canada Consultation on the Potential Market for Cannabis Health Products that would 
not Require Practitioner Oversight 
 
Between June 19 and September 3, 2019, Health Canada conducted a public consultation on the potential 

market for cannabis health products (CHPs) that would not require practitioner oversight. A legal, regulated 

market currently exists for non-medical cannabis, as well as cannabis for medical purposes when medically 

authorized. Canadians cannot legally access a CHP that makes a health claim and does not require the 

oversight of a practitioner such as a doctor or veterinarian. The purpose of the consultation was to seek 

feedback from Canadians, cannabis and health products industries, and other interested stakeholders regarding 

product preference, as well as opinions on the parameters of a proposed approach and whether or not a legal 

pathway to market for CHPs should be established. Health Unit staff from the substance-use portfolio worked 

collaboratively with a sub-group of members from the Ontario Public Health Collaboration on Cannabis to 

develop a public health multi-agency submission with input focused on minimizing public health and public 

safety risks related to the potential sale of these products. The group response, attached as Appendix A, 

highlights the need to prioritize regulations that reflect and support the intent of the Cannabis Act, specifically 

in preventing youth access to CHPs and ensuring that regulated products are scientifically proven to benefit 

the health of consumers prior to coming to market. Health Unit staff will continue to monitor Health Canada’s 

progress related to CHPs and will provide updates to the Board of Health as information becomes available. 

 
tykeTALK, Infant Hearing, and Blind Low Vision Program Update 
 
After effectively overseeing the implementation of these valuable programs in our region for over 20 years, 

MLHU has successfully transitioned leadership of the tykeTALK, Infant Hearing and Blind Low Vision 

Programmes to the Thames Valley Children’s Centre (TVCC) as of September 3, 2019. The direct referral 

line, fax line and website for the programmes were transferred to TVCC. Referrals and phone calls still 

  

https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/programs/consultation-potential-market-cannabis.html
https://www.healthunit.com/uploads/2019-09-19-report-055-19-appendix-a.pdf


2019 March 21 -  2  - Report No. 055-19 
 

  

coming to MLHU are being forwarded to TVCC. The two remaining full-time permanent Program Assistants 

working in these programmes have transferred to other positions within MLHU. The Ministry of Children, 

Community and Social Services (MCCSS) confirmed that, effective Sept 2019, the funding for these 

programmes will now flow directly to TVCC. MLHU is required by MCCSS to conduct a financial audit for 

the period of April 1, 2019- August 31, 2019. Any remaining funds will be sent to TVCC once all invoices for 

the April to August period have been paid.   

 

 
 

Christopher Mackie, MD, MHSc, CCFP, FRCPC 

Medical Officer of Health / CEO 



Cannabis Health Product Consultation Response Page 1 of 5 
 

 

Consultation on Potential Market for Cannabis Health Products that 

Would Not Require Practitioner Oversight 
 

Ontario Public Health Collaboration on Cannabis (OPHCOC) 

The Ontario Public Health Collaboration on Cannabis is a group of professionals from 35 

health units who have joined together to promote a comprehensive public health approach to 

cannabis legalization. 

 

 

 

 

This response paper was developed and supported by a sub-group of the OPHCOC from 

the following Public Health Units: 

 

Middlesex London Health Unit; Windsor Essex County Health Unit; Kingston, Frontenac, 

Lennox and Addington Public Health; Perth District Health Unit; Southwestern Public Health; 

Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health; York Region Public Health; North Bay Parry 

Sound District Health Unit; Eastern Ontario Health Unit; Chatham-Kent Public Health; 

Thunder Bay District Health Unit; Peterborough Public Health; Porcupine Health Unit; 

Lambton Public Health; Hastings Prince Edward Public Health; Simcoe Muskoka District 

Health Unit; Public Health Sudbury & Districts; Niagara Region Public Health; Grey Bruce 

Health Unit; Region of Peel - Public Health 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Submission Date: August 29, 2019 



Cannabis Health Product Consultation Response Page 2 of 5 
 

 

The Ontario Public Health Collaboration on Cannabis (OPHCOC) appreciates the 

opportunity to participate in Health Canada’s consultation on Potential Market for Cannabis 

Health Products that would not Require Practitioner Oversight. The OPHCOC is pleased that 

public health and safety, while controlling access to safe, effective and quality products are 

among the key components of the consultation document, the Health Products Containing 

Cannabis or for use with Cannabis: Guidance for the Cannabis Act (guidance document), 

the Food and Drugs Act (FDA) and related regulations framework.  

 

The OPHCOC believes having access to regulated products that are scientifically proven to 

benefit the health of consumers is favourable, as long as the regulations reflect and support 

the intent of the Cannabis Act, with the priorities being, to prevent youth access and 

eliminate the illegal market. The OPHCOC recognizes and supports that approval of 

cannabis health products CHPs will encourage future research to inform public health 

practices. Further considerations from the OPHCOC are outlined below.  

 

The OPHCOC recommends alignment with the Cannabis Act in regard to providing 

cannabis to a minor. We agree that unrestricted access to CHPs by young persons may 

induce or normalize the use of cannabis. Health Canada’s proposition to permit a young 

person access to CHPs through a responsible adult intermediary runs counter to the 

objectives of the Cannabis Act to protect youth and recommendations from the Canadian 

Pediatric Society which states that “Overall, there are insufficient data to support either the 

efficacy or safety of cannabis use for any indications in children, and an increasing body of 

data suggests possible harm, most importantly in specific conditions.”1 The OPHCOC 

recommends that CHP regulations align with the Cannabis Act so that providing CHPs to a 

minor would be restricted. Furthermore, restrictions on access should be aligned with 

provincial/territorial laws regarding age of access. This recommendation is supported by 

current evidence, including Health Canada’s document; Cannabis and your Health, which 

states that cannabis affects the neurobiological system that is responsible for brain 

development. We know that individuals exposed to cannabis under the age of 25 are most at 

risk of cannabis related harms both mentally and physically, due to brain development which 

takes place through the mid-twenties. In particular, the risk of mental health problems 

increases with early initiation of cannabis use and heavy, frequent use. These problems 

include dependence and disorders related to anxiety, depression, psychotic disorders, as 

well as impairment with learning and memory. Stopping use can help improve these deficits, 

however, some of these harms may persist for months or years or may become permanent.2 

The OPHCOC believes it is essential that a precautionary approach is taken until further 

information is known about the long-term impact that tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), 

cannabidiol (CBD) and other cannabinoids have on the developing brain, across the 

lifespan, and on vulnerable populations such as youth, and women who are pregnant or 

breastfeeding.  

 

The OPHCOC proposes that the regulations prohibit the distribution and access of 

sample products by or for any party including manufacturers and retailers, healthcare 

providers, or any individual, or organization. The OPHCOC supports the requirement 

proposed in the guidance document that the sale of CHPs follows each province’s/territory’s 

current distribution and sale of cannabis products framework and that samples, gifts or free 

products are not permitted.  

https://www.canada.ca/en/services/health/campaigns/cannabis/health-effects.html


Cannabis Health Product Consultation Response Page 3 of 5 
 

 

The OPHCOC supports the CHP packaging requirements proposed in the consultation 

document. The OPHCOC supports the requirement that all CHP packaging aligns with the 

Good Label and Package Practices Guide for Non-prescription Drugs and Natural Health 

Products, FDA health product labeling requirements, and all packaging and labeling 

requirements under the Cannabis Act. The OPHCOC is concerned about individuals self-

diagnosing and self-medicating without medical oversight. Regulated labeling requirements 

will help inform the consumer. The following warnings should be clearly stated on all CHPs: 

● Do not use if pregnant or breastfeeding 

● Keep out of reach of children and youth 

● Seek medical advice for potential drug interactions 

● This product should not replace medical advice 

To help prevent unintentional consumption, packaging should be in-line with current 

restrictions under the Cannabis Act for plain, child-resistant packaging which does not 

appeal to youth or children. Packaging should also be consistent with cannabis health 

warning message regulations.  

 

The OPHCOC supports the requirement for pre-market approval for safety, efficacy, 

and quality under FDA, and scientifically rigorous evidence before a health claim can 

be made or a product is granted access to the market. We support the recommendation 

that specific criteria are developed and used to ensure research findings comprise robust, 

scientific evidence. We are concerned that, if a rigorous scientific evidence-based approach 

is not enforced, the presence of unsubstantiated health claims can place not only youth and 

children at risk of harm, but any consumer. Health claims could be misleading for parents, 

who may unintentionally expose their child to a harmful substance, and misleading to 

general consumers about the effectiveness of products to treat various ailments. Similar to 

the current regulations for cannabis products for medical purposes, for which practitioner 

oversight is necessary, CHPs should also require that manufacturing be subject to quality 

and security requirements under the FDA and Cannabis Act.3  

  

The OPHCOC is in support of CHP regulations that align with current Health Canada 

regulations for edible cannabis, cannabis extracts, and cannabis topicals and 

cautions the approval of cannabis health food products. These regulations include: 

restriction of additives, such as nicotine, caffeine, alcohol, sugar or sweeteners; packaging 

and labeling regulations, including standardized cannabis symbol and a nutrition facts table 

when needed; products that do not target or are not intended for children or youth (e.g. 

vitamin gummies), and; production in facilities that do not produce other health products or 

food products. The OPHCOC is concerned that food products applying for CHP status will 

be a way for edible cannabis suppliers to apply a health claim to food products. Health 

claims on food products can inadvertently encourage consumers to consume not only 

cannabis products, but also the calorie dense, nutrient poor foods often associated with 

edible cannabis. The OPHCOC cautions the approval of cannabis health food products, 

especially products that might appeal to children or youth. 

 

The OPHCOC recommends a maximum amount of 10ppm of THC in CHPs, as this 

amount of THC will have little psychoactive effect.4 Much is still unknown about 

cannabinoids and how they affect the body or interact with each other, but THC is 

associated with many harms, especially in youth because of their developing brain. Due to 



Cannabis Health Product Consultation Response Page 4 of 5 
 

the intoxicating effects of THC, products with more than the recommended trace amount of 

THC could potentially lead to impairment, injuries, psychosis, and other short and long-term 

harms.2 

  

The OPHCOC recommends prohibiting CHPs which require inhalation in order to 

achieve the intended effects. Long-term harms associated with tobacco smoke and 

second-hand smoke is well known, as well, there is growing knowledge of vaping products 

and the long-term harm they may cause. We recommend taking a precautionary approach 

and gather more evidence on the long-term effects of inhalation devices which contain any 

amount or type of cannabinoid before placing them on the market for use with CHPs. 

 

The OPHCOC recommends that Health Canada provide clear guidelines and designate 

enforcement responsibilities for the oversight of CHPs. To be effective, regulations must 

be supported through proper communication and enforcement efforts. We recommend clear 

and extensive guidelines mandating oversight of the production and sale of CHPs. This 

would include: outlining how enforcement of the production of these products will be 

effectively and feasibly performed, how the regulations pertaining to the sale and promotion 

of these products will be enforced, and how scientific evidence will be validated. 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to provide input on the potential market for cannabis health 

products that would not require practitioner oversight. We would be happy to discuss any of 

our recommendations or comments upon your request and look forward to the summary 

from Health Canada following this consultation.  

 

Sincerely,  

 

Sara Tryon 

Co-Chair of OPHCOC, representing the OPHCOC sub-group on this consultation 

Sara.tryon@kflaph.ca 

 

Elena Hasheminejad 

Co-Chair of OPHCOC, representing the OPHCOC sub-group on this consultation 

Elena.hasheminejad@york.ca  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

mailto:Sara.tryon@kflaph.ca
mailto:Elena.hasheminejad@york.ca


Cannabis Health Product Consultation Response Page 5 of 5 
 

 

 

References 

1. Michael J Rieder, (2016) Canadian Pediatric Society. Position Statement: Is the medical 

use of cannabis a therapeutic option for children? Retrieved August 21, 2019 from: 

https://www.cps.ca/en/documents/position/medical-use-of-cannabis  

2. Health Canada. (2019). Cannabis and your health. Retrieved from 

https://www.canada.ca/en/services/health/campaigns/cannabis/health-effects.html 

3. Health Canada. (2018). Health Products Containing Cannabis or for use with Cannabis: 

Guidance for the Cannabis Act, the Food and Drugs Act, and Related Regulations. 

Retrieved from https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/hc-sc/documents/services/drugs-health-

products/drug-products/applications-submissions/guidance-documents/cannabis-health-

products-guidance-eng(2).pdf  

4. Health Canada. (2017). Proposed Approach to the Regulation of Cannabis. Retrieved 

from https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/programs/consultation-proposed-approach-

regulation-cannabis/proposed-approach-regulation-cannabis.html#a85 

 

 

 

 

https://www.cps.ca/en/documents/position/medical-use-of-cannabis
https://www.canada.ca/en/services/health/campaigns/cannabis/health-effects.html
https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/hc-sc/documents/services/drugs-health-products/drug-products/applications-submissions/guidance-documents/cannabis-health-products-guidance-eng(2).pdf
https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/hc-sc/documents/services/drugs-health-products/drug-products/applications-submissions/guidance-documents/cannabis-health-products-guidance-eng(2).pdf
https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/hc-sc/documents/services/drugs-health-products/drug-products/applications-submissions/guidance-documents/cannabis-health-products-guidance-eng(2).pdf
https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/programs/consultation-proposed-approach-regulation-cannabis/proposed-approach-regulation-cannabis.html#a85
https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/programs/consultation-proposed-approach-regulation-cannabis/proposed-approach-regulation-cannabis.html#a85


                MIDDLESEX-LONDON HEALTH UNIT 

 

                                REPORT NO. 057-19 

 

 

TO:  Chair and Members of the Board of Health 
 

FROM: Christopher Mackie, Medical Officer of Health / CEO 
   

DATE:  2019 September 19 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

MEDICAL OFFICER OF HEALTH / CEO ACTIVITY REPORT FOR SEPTEMBER 
 

Recommendation 
 

It is recommended that the Board of Health receive Report No. 057-19 re: “Medical Officer of Health 

Activity Report for September” for information. 
 

 

 

The following report presents activities of the Medical Officer of Health (MOH) / CEO for the period of 

July 8, 2019, to September 5, 2019. 

 

 

July 5 Participated in the Association of Local Public Health Agencies (alPHa) Board of 

Directors teleconference 

 

July 9 Update meeting with Trish Fulton, Board of Health chair 

 

July 10 Teleconference with Medical Officers of Health on public health modernization 

 

July 11 Phone call with Chair Fulton to discuss July 18 Board meeting agenda  

 

July 12 Met with Gillian Kernaghan, President and CEO, St. Joseph’s Hospital to discuss 

healthcare modernization 

 Participated in teleconference on the Promoting Resilience through Early Childhood 

Development Program – 2019 alPHa Resolution 

 

July 15 Met with Board member Michael Clarke to discuss public health research 

 

July 16 Met with Michelle Quintyn, President and CEO, Goodwill Industries, to provide public 

health updates 

 Interviewed by Jonathan Juha, London Free Press, about funding for Carepoint 

 

July 17 Phone call with Dr. Wajid Ahmed, Medical Officer of Health for Windsor, in regard to 

water fluoridation 

 Met with Jeff Yurek, MPP, Elgin—Middlesex—London, to discuss public health 

modernization and environmental health 

 

July 18 Attended meeting of Medical Officers of Health, Associate Medical Officers of Health, 

and CEOs from MLHU, Chatham-Kent Public Health, Southwestern Public Health, the 

Windsor–Essex County Health Unit, and Lambton Public Health 

 Attended the Board of Health meeting 

 

July 19 Attended meeting at London Health Sciences Centre (LHSC) on population health 

 

July 25 Met with Brian Lester, Executive Director, Regional HIV/AIDS Connection, to discuss 

downtown safety 

 



2019 September 19 -  2  - Report No. 057-19 

 

  

 Met with Mayor Ed Holder, City of London, to discuss downtown safety 

 

August 6 Met with Maria Sanchez-Keane, principal consultant, Centre for Organizational 

Effectiveness to discuss public health modernization 

 Met with Kelly Scherr, Managing Director, Environmental & Engineering Services, and 

City Engineer, City of London to discuss water safety 

 Met with Judy Preszcator, coach and facilitator, The Achievement Centre to debrief on 

performance survey 

 

August 8 Update meeting with Trish Fulton, Board of Health chair 

 Phone call with Dave Snook, Aylmer District Stakeholders’ Committee, in regard to a 

tick and Lyme disease regional awareness campaign for hunters 

 

August 13 Met with Chief Williams, London Police Services, and Brian Lester to discuss the drug 

crisis 

 

August 14 Attended Policy Conversation: Beyond the Talk and Getting to Action session hosted by 

Pillar Nonprofit Network 

 Participated in Urban Public Health Network teleconference on public health systems 

transformation 

 Chaired meeting of South West Health Units to discuss a coordinated Lyme disease 

campaign 

 Participated in MLHU Annual United Way charity golf tournament 

 

August 15 Attended meetings at London’s Emergency Operations Centre in regard to the August 14 

gas explosion in Old East Village 

 

August 19–20  Attended two-day Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO) conference in Ottawa 

 

September 4 Met with Lynne Livingstone, Deputy City Manager, City of London, to discuss 

collaboration 

 

September 5 Attended the Finance & Facilities Committee meeting 

 

 

This report was submitted by the Office of the Medical Officer of Health. 

 

 
 

Christopher Mackie, MD, MHSc, CCFP, FRCPC 

Medical Officer of Health / CEO 

 



2020 Draft Board of Health, Governance Committee and  
Finance & Facilities Committee meeting dates 

 

 

 

 

 

2020  Finance & Facilities Committee Meeting Dates 

Thursday, February 6 

Thursday, February 13 

Thursday, March 5 

Thursday, April 2 

Thursday, May 7 

Thursday, June 4 

Thursday, July 2 

Thursday, August 6      *usually cancelled 

Thursday, September 3 

Thursday, October 1 

Thursday, November 5 

Thursday, December 3 

 

2020 Board of Health and Governance Committee Meeting Dates 

Thursday, January 23  Inaugural meeting 

Thursday, February 20   

Thursday, March 19 *Governance Committee 

Thursday, April 16   

Thursday, May 21   

Thursday, June 18 *Governance Committee 

Thursday, July 16   

Thursday, August 20 *usually cancelled 

Thursday, September 17   

Thursday, October 15 *Governance Committee 

Thursday, November 19   

Thursday, December 10   


